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EXPLANATORY NOTE
This report combines the Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2018 of First Industrial
Realty Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company"), and First Industrial, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
(the "Operating Partnership"). Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "our" and
"us" refer to the Company and its subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The Company is a real estate investment trust and the general partner of the Operating Partnership. At December 31,
2018, the Company owned an approximate 98.0% common general partnership interest in the Operating Partnership.
The remaining approximate 2.0% common limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership are owned by
certain limited partners. As the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, the Company exercises exclusive
and complete discretion over the Operating Partnership's day-to-day management and control and can cause it to enter
into certain major transactions, including acquisitions, dispositions and refinancings. The management of the
Company consists of the same members as the management of the Operating Partnership.
The Company and the Operating Partnership are managed and operated as one enterprise. The financial results of the
Operating Partnership are consolidated into the financial statements of the Company. The Company has no significant
assets other than its investment in the Operating Partnership. Substantially all of the Company's assets are held by, and
its operations are conducted through, the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries. Therefore, the assets and
liabilities of the Company and the Operating Partnership are substantially the same.
We believe it is important to understand the differences between the Company and the Operating Partnership in the
context of how the Company and the Operating Partnership operate as an interrelated, consolidated company. The
main areas of difference between the consolidated financial statements of the Company and those of the Operating
Partnership are:

•
Stockholders' Equity, Noncontrolling Interest and Partners' Capital. The 2.0% equity interest in the Operating
Partnership held by entities other than the Company are classified within partners' capital in the Operating
Partnership's financial statements and as a noncontrolling interest in the Company's financial statements.

•

Relationship to Other Real Estate Partnerships. The Company's operations are conducted primarily through the
Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries, though operations are also conducted through eight other limited
partnerships, which are referred to as the "Other Real Estate Partnerships." The Operating Partnership is a limited
partner, holding at least a 99% interest, and the Company is a general partner, holding at least a .01% general
partnership interest through eight separate wholly-owned corporations, in each of the Other Real Estate Partnerships.
The Other Real Estate Partnerships are variable interest entities that both the Company and the Operating Partnership
consolidate. The Company's direct general partnership interest in the Other Real Estate Partnerships is reflected as
noncontrolling interest within the Operating Partnership's financial statements.

•

Relationship to Service Subsidiary. The Company has a direct wholly-owned subsidiary that does not own any real
estate but provides services to various other entities owned by the Company. Since the Operating Partnership does not
have an ownership interest in this entity, its operations are reflected in the consolidated results of the Company but not
the Operating Partnership. Also, this entity owes certain amounts to the Operating Partnership, for which a receivable
is included on the Operating Partnership's balance sheet but is eliminated on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet, since both this entity and the Operating Partnership are fully consolidated by the Company.
We believe combining the Company's and Operating Partnership's annual reports into this single report results in the
following benefits:

• enhances investors' understanding of the Company and the Operating Partnership by enabling them to view the
business as a whole and in the same manner as management views and operates the business;

•creates time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports; and

•
eliminates duplicative disclosures and provides a more streamlined and readable presentation for our investors to
review since a substantial portion of the Company's disclosure applies to both the Company and the Operating
Partnership.
To help investors understand the differences between the Company and the Operating Partnership, this report provides
the following separate disclosures for each of the Company and the Operating Partnership:
•consolidated financial statements;
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•a single set of consolidated notes to such financial statements that includes separate discussions of each entity'sstockholders' equity or partners' capital, as applicable; and

•a combined Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section thatincludes distinct information related to each entity.
This report also includes separate Part II, Item 9A, Controls and Procedures sections and separate Exhibits 31 and 32
certifications for the Company and the Operating Partnership in order to establish that the requisite certifications have
been made and that the Company and the Operating Partnership are both compliant with Rule 13a-15 and Rule 15d-15
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. §1350.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"). We intend for such forward-looking
statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and describe
our future plans, strategies and expectations, and are generally identifiable by use of the words "believe," "expect,"
"plan," "intend," "anticipate," "estimate," "project," "seek," "target," "potential," "focus," "may," "will," "should" or
similar words. Although we believe the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements are based upon
reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our expectations will be attained or that results will not
materially differ. Factors which could have a materially adverse effect on our operations and future prospects include,
but are not limited to:

•changes in national, international, regional and local economic conditions generally and real estate marketsspecifically;

•changes in legislation/regulation (including changes to laws governing the taxation of real estate investment trusts)and actions of regulatory authorities;
•our ability to qualify and maintain our status as a real estate investment trust;
•the availability and attractiveness of financing (including both public and private capital) and changes in interest rates;
•the availability and attractiveness of terms of additional debt repurchases;
•changes in our credit agency ratings;
•our ability to comply with applicable financial covenants;
•our competitive environment;
•changes in supply, demand and valuation of industrial properties and land in our current and potential market areas;
•difficulties in identifying and consummating acquisitions and dispositions;
•our ability to manage the integration of properties we acquire;
•potential liability relating to environmental matters;
•defaults on or non-renewal of leases by our tenants;
•decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates;
•higher-than-expected real estate construction costs and delays in development or lease-up schedules;
•changes in general accounting principles, policies and guidelines applicable to real estate investment trusts; and

•
other risks and uncertainties described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this report as well as those risks
and uncertainties discussed from time to time in our other Exchange Act reports and in our other public filings with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").
We caution you not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect our outlook only and speak
only as of the date of this report. We assume no obligation to update or supplement forward-looking statements.

3
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PART I
THE COMPANY
Item  1.Business
Background
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. is a self-administered and fully integrated real estate company which owns,
manages, acquires, sells, develops and redevelops industrial real estate. The Company is a Maryland corporation
organized on August 10, 1993 and a real estate investment trust ("REIT") as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (the "Code"). As of December 31, 2018, our in-service portfolio consisted of 171 bulk warehouse properties, 93
regional warehouse properties, 152 light industrial properties and 31 R&D/flex properties, containing an aggregate of
approximately 60.7 million square feet of gross leasable area ("GLA") located in 21 states. Our in-service portfolio
includes all properties that have reached stabilized occupancy (generally defined as properties that are 90% leased),
developed and redeveloped properties one year from the date construction is completed and acquired properties that
are at least 75% occupied at acquisition or one year from the acquisition date.
We began operations on July 1, 1994. The Company's operations are conducted primarily through the Operating
Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership formed on November 23, 1993 of which the Company is the sole general
partner (the "General Partner"), with an approximate 98.0% and 96.8% ownership interest ("General Partner Units") at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Operating Partnership also conducts operations through the Other
Real Estate Partnerships, numerous limited liability companies ("LLCs") and certain taxable REIT subsidiaries
("TRSs"), the operating data of which, together with that of the Operating Partnership, is consolidated with that of the
Company as presented herein. The Company does not have any significant assets or liabilities other than its
investment in the Operating Partnership and its 100% ownership interest in the general partners of the Other Real
Estate Partnerships. Noncontrolling interest in the Operating Partnership of approximately 2.0% and 3.2% at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, represents the aggregate partnership interest held by the limited partners
thereof ("Limited Partner Units" and together with the General Partner Units, the "Units").

Profits, losses and distributions of the Operating Partnership, the LLCs, the Other Real Estate Partnerships and the
TRSs are allocated to the general partner and the limited partners, the members or the shareholders, as applicable, of
such entities in accordance with the provisions contained within their respective organizational documents.

We also own a 49% equity interest in, and provide various services to, a joint venture (the "Joint Venture") through a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership. The Joint Venture is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The operating data of the Joint Venture is not consolidated with that of the Company or the Operating
Partnership as presented herein.
We utilize an operating approach which combines the effectiveness of decentralized, locally based property
management, acquisition, sales and development functions with the cost efficiencies of centralized acquisition, sales
and development support, capital markets expertise, asset management and fiscal control systems. At December 31,
2018, we had 145 employees.
Available Information
We maintain a website at www.firstindustrial.com. Information on this website shall not constitute part of this
Form 10-K. Copies of our respective annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to such reports are available without charge on our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC. You may also read and copy any document filed
at the public reference facilities of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at
(800) SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference facilities. These documents also may be accessed
through the SEC's Interactive Data Electronic Application via the SEC's home page on the Internet (www.sec.gov). In
addition, the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Audit Committee
Charter, Compensation Committee Charter and Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee Charter, along with
supplemental financial and operating information prepared by us, are all available without charge on the Company's
website or upon request to the Company. Amendments to, or waivers from, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
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that apply to our executive officers or directors will also be posted to our website. We also post or otherwise make
available on our website from time to time other information that may be of interest to our investors. Please direct
requests as follows:
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.
1 N. Wacker Drive, Suite 4200
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: Investor Relations
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Business Objectives and Growth Plans
Our fundamental business objective is to maximize the total return to the Company's stockholders and the Operating
Partnership's partners through an increase in cash flows and increases in the value of our properties and operations.
Our long-term business growth plans include the following elements:

•

Internal Growth. We seek to grow internally by (i) increasing revenues by renewing or re-leasing spaces subject to
expiring leases at higher rental levels; (ii) contractual rent escalations on our long-term leases; (iii) increasing
occupancy levels at properties where vacancies exist and maintaining occupancy elsewhere; (iv) controlling and
minimizing property operating and general and administrative expenses; and (v) renovating existing properties.

•
External Growth. We seek to grow externally through (i) the development of industrial properties; (ii) the acquisition
of portfolios of industrial properties or individual properties which meet our investment parameters within our target
markets; (iii) the expansion of our properties; and (iv) possible additional joint venture investments.

•Portfolio Enhancement. We continually seek to upgrade our overall portfolio via new investments as well as through
the sale of select assets that we believe do not exhibit favorable characteristics for long-term cash flow growth.
Our ability to pursue our long-term growth plans is affected by market conditions and our financial condition and
operating capabilities. See "Summary of Significant Transactions in 2018" under Item 7,"Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
Business Strategies
We utilize the following six strategies in connection with the operation of our business:

•

Organizational Strategy. We implement our decentralized property operations strategy through the deployment of
experienced regional management teams and local property managers. We provide acquisition, development and
financing assistance, asset management oversight and financial reporting functions from our headquarters in Chicago,
Illinois to support our regional operations. We believe the size of our portfolio enables us to realize operating
efficiencies by spreading overhead among many properties and by negotiating purchasing discounts.

•

Market Strategy. Our market strategy is to concentrate on the top industrial real estate markets in the United States.
These markets have one or more of the following characteristics: (i) favorable industrial real estate fundamentals,
including improving industrial demand and constrained supply that can lead to long-term rent growth; (ii) warehouse
distribution markets with favorable economic and business environments that should benefit from increases in
distribution activity driven by growth in global trade and local consumption; and (iii) sufficient size to provide ample
opportunity for growth through incremental investments as well as offer asset liquidity.

•

Leasing and Marketing Strategy. We have an operational management strategy designed to enhance tenant
satisfaction and portfolio performance. We pursue an active leasing strategy, which includes broadly marketing
available space, seeking to renew existing leases at higher rents per square foot and seeking leases which provide for
the pass-through of property-related expenses to the tenant. We also have local and national marketing programs
which focus on the business and real estate brokerage communities and multi-national tenants.

•Acquisition/Development Strategy. Our acquisition/development strategy is to invest in industrial properties in the topindustrial real estate markets in the United States through the deployment of experienced regional management teams.

• Disposition Strategy. We continually evaluate local market conditions and property-related factors in all of
our markets for purposes of identifying assets suitable for disposition.

•

Financing Strategy. To finance acquisitions, developments and debt maturities, as market conditions permit, we may
utilize a portion of proceeds from property sales, unsecured debt offerings, term loans, mortgage financings and line
of credit borrowings under our $725.0 million unsecured revolving credit agreement (the "Unsecured Credit
Facility"), and proceeds from the issuance, when and as warranted, of additional equity securities. We also continually
evaluate joint venture arrangements as another source of capital to finance acquisitions and developments. As of
February 15, 2019, we had approximately $713.4 million available for additional borrowings under the Unsecured
Credit Facility.

5
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Future Property Acquisitions, Developments and Property Sales
We have acquisition and development programs through which we seek to identify portfolio and individual industrial
property acquisitions and developments. We also sell properties based on market conditions and property related
factors. As a result, we are currently engaged in negotiations relating to the possible acquisition, development or sale
of certain industrial properties in our portfolio.
When evaluating potential industrial property acquisitions and developments, as well as potential industrial property
sales, we will consider such factors as: (i) the geographic area and type of property; (ii) the location, construction
quality, condition and design of the property; (iii) the terms of tenant leases, including the potential for rent increases;
(iv) the potential for economic growth and the general business, tax and regulatory environment of the area in which
the property is located; (v) the occupancy and demand by tenants for properties of a similar type in the vicinity;
(vi) competition from existing properties and the potential for the construction of new properties in the area; (vii) the
potential for capital appreciation of the property; (viii) the ability to improve the property's performance through
renovation; and (ix) the potential for expansion of the physical layout of the property and/or the number of sites.
Industry
Industrial properties are typically used for the design, assembly, packaging, storage and distribution of goods and/or
the provision of services. As a result, the demand for industrial space in the United States is related to the level of
economic output and consumption, including e-commerce fulfillment. Accordingly, the competition we face to lease
our existing properties and acquire or develop new properties varies with the levels of these factors.

6
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Item  1A.Risk Factors
Our operations involve various risks that could adversely affect our business, including our financial condition, our
results of operations, our cash flow, our liquidity, our ability to make distributions to holders of the Company's
common stock and the Operating Partnership's Units, the market price of the Company's common stock and the
market value of the Units. These risks, among others contained in our other filings with the SEC, include:
Disruptions in the financial markets could affect our ability to obtain financing and may negatively impact our
liquidity, financial condition and operating results.
A significant amount of our existing indebtedness was issued through capital markets transactions. We anticipate that
the capital markets could be a source of refinancing of our existing indebtedness in the future. This source of
refinancing may not be available if volatility in or disruption of the capital markets occurs. From time to time, the
capital and credit markets in the United States and other countries experience significant price volatility, dislocations
and liquidity disruptions, which can cause the market prices of many securities and the spreads on prospective debt
financings to fluctuate substantially. These circumstances can materially impact liquidity in the financial markets,
making terms for certain financings less attractive, and in some cases result in the unavailability of financing.
Furthermore, we could potentially lose access to available liquidity under our Unsecured Credit Facility if one or more
participating lenders were to default on their commitments. If our ability to issue additional debt or equity securities or
to borrow money under our Unsecured Credit Facility were to be impaired by volatility in or disruption of the capital
markets, it could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition.
In addition, price volatility in the capital and credit markets could make the valuation of our properties more difficult.
There may be significant uncertainty in the valuation, or in the stability of the value, of our properties that could result
in a substantial decrease in the value of our properties. As a result, we may not be able to recover the carrying amount
of our properties, which may require us to recognize an impairment loss in earnings.
Real estate investments fluctuate in value depending on conditions in the general economy and the real estate industry.
These conditions may limit our revenues and available cash.
The factors that affect the value of our real estate and the revenues we derive from our properties include, among other
things:
•general economic conditions;

•local, regional, national and international economic conditions and other events and occurrences that affect themarkets in which we own properties;
•local conditions such as oversupply or a reduction in demand in an area;
•increasing labor and material costs;
•the ability to collect on a timely basis all rents from tenants;
•changes in tenant operations, real estate needs and credit;
•changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage funding;
•zoning or other regulatory restrictions;
•competition from other available real estate;
•operating costs, including maintenance, insurance premiums and real estate taxes; and
•other factors that are beyond our control.
Our investments in real estate assets are concentrated in the industrial sector, and the demand for industrial space in
the United States is related to the level of economic output. Accordingly, reduced economic output may lead to lower
occupancy rates for our properties. In addition, if any of our tenants experiences a downturn in its business that
weakens its financial condition, delays lease commencement, fails to make rental payments when due, becomes
insolvent or declares bankruptcy, the result could be a termination of the tenant's lease, which could adversely affect
our cash flow from operations. These factors may be amplified by a disruption of financial markets or more general
economic conditions.
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Many real estate costs are fixed, even if income from properties decreases.
Our financial results depend on leasing space to tenants on terms favorable to us. Our income and funds available for
distribution to our stockholders and Unitholders will decrease if a significant number of our tenants cannot pay their
rent or we are unable to lease properties on favorable terms. In addition, if a tenant does not pay its rent, we may not
be able to enforce our rights as landlord without delays and we may incur substantial legal costs. Costs associated with
real property, such as real estate taxes and maintenance costs, generally are not reduced when circumstances cause a
reduction in income from the property.
We may be unable to acquire properties on advantageous terms or acquisitions may not perform as we expect.
We have routinely acquired properties from third parties as conditions warrant and, as part of our business, we intend
to continue to do so. The acquisition of properties entails various risks, including risks that our investments may not
perform as expected and that our cost estimates for bringing an acquired property up to market standards, if necessary,
may prove inaccurate. Further, we face significant competition for attractive investment opportunities from other
well-capitalized real estate investors, including publicly-traded REITs and private investors. This competition
increases as investments in real estate become attractive relative to other forms of investment. As a result of
competition, we may be unable to acquire additional properties and purchase prices may increase. In addition, we
expect to finance future acquisitions through a combination of borrowings under the Unsecured Credit Facility,
proceeds from equity or debt offerings and debt originations and proceeds from property sales, which may not be
available. Any of the above risks could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and
ability to make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock
and the market value of the Units.
We may obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property and would have only limited recourse in the
event our due diligence did not identify any issues that lower the value of our property.
The seller of a property often sells such property in its "as is" condition on a "where is" basis and "with all faults,"
without any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements
may contain only limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period
after the closing. The purchase of properties with limited warranties increases the risk that we may lose some or all of
our invested capital in the property as well as the loss of rental income from that property.
We may be unable to sell properties when appropriate or at all because real estate investments are not as liquid as
certain other types of assets.
Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly, which could limit our ability to adjust our property portfolio
in response to changes in economic conditions or in the performance of the portfolio. This could adversely affect our
financial condition and our ability to service debt and make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders. In
addition, like other companies qualifying as REITs under the Code, our ability to sell assets may be restricted by tax
laws that potentially result in punitive taxation on asset sales that fail to meet certain safe harbor rules or other criteria
established under case law.
We may be unable to sell properties on advantageous terms.
We have routinely sold properties to third parties as conditions warrant and, as part of our business, we intend to
continue to do so. However, our ability to sell properties on advantageous terms depends on factors beyond our
control, including competition from other sellers and the availability of attractive financing for potential buyers. If we
are unable to sell properties on favorable terms or to redeploy the proceeds in accordance with our business strategy,
then our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our stockholders and
Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units could be adversely
affected. Further, if we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers, defaults by the purchasers would
adversely affect our operations and financial condition.
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We may be unable to complete development and re-development projects on advantageous terms.
As part of our business, we develop new properties and re-develop existing properties as conditions warrant. This part
of our business involves significant risks, including the following:
•we may not be able to obtain financing for these projects on favorable terms;
•we may not complete construction on schedule or within budget;

•we may not be able to obtain, or may experience delays in obtaining, all necessary zoning, land-use, building,occupancy and other governmental permits and authorizations;
•contractor and subcontractor disputes, strikes, labor disputes or supply chain disruptions may occur; and

•
properties may perform below anticipated levels, producing cash flow below budgeted amounts, which may result in
us paying too much for a property, cause the property to not be profitable and limit our ability to sell such properties
to third parties.
To the extent these risks result in increased debt service expense, construction costs and delays in budgeted leasing,
they could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to
our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units.
We may be unable to renew leases or find other lessees on advantageous terms or at all.
We are subject to the risks that, upon expiration, leases may not be renewed, the space subject to such leases may not
be relet or the terms of renewal or reletting, including the cost of required renovations, may be less favorable than the
expiring lease terms. If we were unable to promptly renew a significant number of expiring leases or to promptly relet
the spaces covered by such leases, or if the rental rates upon renewal or reletting were significantly lower than the
current rates, our financial condition, results of operation, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our
stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units
could be adversely affected.
The Company might fail to qualify as a REIT under existing laws and/or federal income tax laws could change.
The Company intends to operate so as to qualify as a REIT under the Code, and we believe that the Company is
organized and will operate in a manner that allows us to continue to do so. However, qualification as a REIT involves
the satisfaction of numerous requirements, some of which must be met on a recurring basis. These requirements are
established under highly technical and complex Code provisions. There are only limited judicial and administrative
interpretations of these provisions, and they involve the determination of various factual matters and circumstances
not entirely within our control.
If the Company were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, the Company would be subject to federal income
tax at corporate rates. This could result in a discontinuation or substantial reduction in distributions to our
stockholders and Unitholders and could reduce the cash available to pay interest and principal on debt securities that
we issue. Unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions, the Company would be disqualified from electing
treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which the Company failed to qualify.
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The act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles II and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal
year 2018 commonly known as Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "TCJ Act"), which generally took effect for taxable years
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 (subject to certain exceptions), made many significant changes to the U.S.
federal income tax laws that profoundly impacted the taxation of individuals and corporations (including both regular
C corporations and corporations that have elected to be taxed as REITs). Among other changes, the TCJ Act
permanently reduced the generally applicable corporate tax rate, generally reduced the tax rate applicable to
individuals and other non-corporate taxpayers for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and before January
1, 2026, eliminated or modified certain previously allowed deductions (including substantially limiting interest
deductibility and, for individuals, the deduction for non-business state and local taxes), and, for taxable years
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and before January 1, 2026, provides for preferential rates of taxation through a
deduction of up to 20% (subject to certain limitations) on most ordinary REIT dividends and certain trade or business
income of non-corporate taxpayers. The TCJ Act also imposed new limitations on the deduction of net operating
losses, which may result in the Company having to make additional taxable distributions to our stockholders in order
to comply with REIT distribution requirements and avoid taxes on retained income and gains. A number of changes
that affect noncorporate taxpayers will expire at the end of 2025 unless Congress acts to extend them. These changes
will impact us and our shareholders in various ways, some of which are adverse or potentially adverse compared to
prior law. To date, the IRS has issued only limited guidance with respect to certain of the new provisions, and there
are numerous interpretive issues that will require guidance. It is highly likely that technical corrections legislation will
be needed to clarify certain aspects of the new law and give proper effect to Congressional intent. There can be no
assurance, however, that technical clarifications or changes needed to prevent unintended or unforeseen tax
consequences will be enacted by Congress in the near future.
Additionally, since the IRS, the United States Treasury Department and Congress frequently review federal income
tax legislation, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent new federal laws, regulations, interpretations or
rulings will be adopted. Additional changes to tax laws are likely to continue to occur in the future and any such
legislative action may prospectively or retroactively modify the Company's tax treatment and therefore, may adversely
affect taxation of us and/or our stockholders and Unitholders. Any such changes could have an adverse effect on an
investment in shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our properties. Stockholders and Unitholders are
urged to consult with their own tax advisor with respect to the impact of recent legislation, the status of legislative,
regulatory, or administrative developments and proposals, and their potential effect on ownership of our shares.
Certain property transfers may generate prohibited transaction income, resulting in a penalty tax on the gain
attributable to the transaction.
As part of our business, we sell properties to third parties as opportunities arise. Under the Code, a 100% penalty tax
could be assessed on the tax gain recognized from sales of properties that are deemed to be prohibited transactions.
The question of what constitutes a prohibited transaction is based on the facts and circumstances surrounding each
transaction. The IRS could contend that certain sales of properties by us are prohibited transactions. While we have
implemented controls to avoid prohibited transactions, if a dispute were to arise that was successfully argued by the
IRS, the 100% penalty tax could be assessed against the Company's profits from these transactions.
The REIT distribution requirements may limit our ability to retain capital and require us to turn to external financing
sources.
As a REIT, the Company must distribute to its stockholders at least 90% of its taxable income each year. The
Company could, in certain instances, have taxable income without sufficient cash to enable it to meet this
requirement. In that situation, we could be required to borrow funds or sell properties on adverse terms in order to do
so. The distribution requirement could also limit our ability to accumulate capital to provide capital resources for our
ongoing business, and to satisfy our debt repayment obligations and other liquidity needs, we may be more dependent
on outside sources of financing, such as debt financing or issuances of additional capital stock, which may or may not
be available on favorable terms. Additional debt financings may substantially increase our leverage and additional
equity offerings may result in substantial dilution of stockholders' and Unitholders' interests.
We face possible state and local tax audits.
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Because the Company is organized and qualifies as a REIT, we are generally not subject to federal income taxes, but
we are subject to certain state and local taxes. In the normal course of business, certain entities through which we own
real estate have undergone tax audits. Collectively, tax deficiency notices received to date from the jurisdictions
conducting previous audits have not been material. However, there can be no assurance that future audits will not
occur with increased frequency or that the ultimate result of such audits will not have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.
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Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect our results of operations.
Subject to maintaining the Company's qualification as a REIT, we may seek to manage our exposure to interest rate
volatility by using interest rate hedging arrangements, such as interest cap agreements, interest rate swap agreements
and treasury locks. These agreements may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other things:
•interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates;
•available interest rate hedges may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought;
•the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability;

•the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions (other than through taxable REIT subsidiaries)is limited by U.S. federal tax provisions governing REITs;

•the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs ourability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction;
•the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay;
•we could incur significant costs associated with the settlement of the agreements;

•the underlying transactions could fail to qualify as highly-effective cash flow hedges under generally acceptedaccounting practices; and
•a court could rule that such an agreement is not legally enforceable.
We have adopted a practice relating to the use of derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risks related to
our borrowings. This practice requires the Company's Board of Directors to authorize our use of derivative financial
instruments to fix the interest rate on anticipated offerings of unsecured debt and to manage the interest rates on our
variable rate borrowings. Our practice is that we do not use derivatives for speculative or trading purposes and intend
only to enter into contracts with major financial institutions based on their credit rating and other factors, but the
Company's Board of Directors may choose to change these practices in the future. Hedging may reduce the overall
returns on our investments, which could reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders and
Unitholders. Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flow.
Debt financing, the degree of leverage and rising interest rates could reduce our cash flow.
We use debt to increase the rate of return to our stockholders and Unitholders and to allow us to make more
investments than we otherwise could. Our use of leverage presents an additional element of risk in the event that the
cash flow from our properties is insufficient to meet both debt payment obligations and the distribution requirements
of the REIT provisions of the Code. In addition, rising interest rates would reduce our cash flow by increasing the
amount of interest due on our floating rate debt and on our fixed rate debt as it matures and is refinanced. Certain of
our variable rate debt, including our revolving credit facility, currently uses LIBOR as a benchmark for establishing
the interest rate. LIBOR is the subject of recent proposals for reform. Any changes to the methods by which LIBOR is
determined, or any other reforms to LIBOR which may be enacted in the United Kingdom, the European Union or
elsewhere may result in, among other things, a sudden or prolonged increase or decrease in LIBOR, a delay in the
publication of LIBOR, and changes in the rules or methodologies in LIBOR, which may discourage market
participants from continuing to administer or to participate in LIBOR’s determination, and, in certain situations, could
result in LIBOR no longer being determined and published. If a published U.S. dollar LIBOR rate becomes
unavailable for any reason, the interest rates on our debt which is indexed to LIBOR would be determined using
various alternative methods, any of which may result in interest obligations which are more than or do not otherwise
correlate over time with the payments that would have been made on such debt if U.S. dollar LIBOR was available in
its current form. Further, the same costs and risks that may lead to the discontinuation or unavailability of U.S. dollar
LIBOR may make one or more of the alternative methods impossible or impracticable to determine. Any of these
proposals or consequences could have a material adverse effect on our financing costs. Our organizational documents
do not contain any limitation on the amount or percentage of indebtedness we may incur.
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Failure to comply with covenants in our debt agreements could adversely affect our financial condition.
The terms of our agreements governing our indebtedness require that we comply with a number of financial and other
covenants, such as maintaining debt service coverage and leverage ratios and maintaining insurance coverage.
Complying with such covenants may limit our operational flexibility. Our failure to comply with these covenants
could cause a default under the applicable debt agreement even if we have satisfied our payment obligations.
Consistent with our prior practice, we will continue to interpret and certify our performance under these covenants in a
good faith manner that we deem reasonable and appropriate. However, these financial covenants are complex and
there can be no assurance that these provisions would not be interpreted by the noteholders or lenders in a manner that
could impose and cause us to incur material costs. Our ability to meet our financial covenants may be adversely
affected if economic and credit market conditions limit our ability to reduce our debt levels consistent with, or result
in net operating income below, our current expectations. Under our Unsecured Credit Facility, an event of default can
also occur if the lenders, in their good faith judgment, determine that a material adverse change has occurred that
could prevent timely repayment or materially impair our ability to perform our obligations under the loan agreement.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, we would be subject to higher finance costs and fees, and the lenders
under our Unsecured Credit Facility will not be required to lend any additional amounts to us. In addition, our
indebtedness, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, could be accelerated and declared to be immediately
due and payable. Furthermore, our Unsecured Credit Facility, our unsecured term loans and the indentures governing
our senior unsecured notes contain certain cross-default provisions that may be triggered in the event that our other
material indebtedness is in default. These cross-default provisions may require us to repay or restructure our
Unsecured Credit Facility, our unsecured term loans or our senior unsecured notes (which includes our private
placement notes), depending on which is in default, and such restructuring could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the
market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units. If repayment of any of our
indebtedness is accelerated, we cannot provide assurance that we would be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance
such indebtedness or that we would be able to sell sufficient assets to repay such indebtedness. Even if we were able
to obtain new financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms, or terms that are acceptable to us.
Cross-collateralization of mortgage loans could result in foreclosure on a significant portion of our properties if we are
unable to service its indebtedness.
Certain of our mortgages were issued on a cross-collateralized basis. Cross-collateralization makes all of the subject
properties available to the lender in order to satisfy the debt. To the extent indebtedness is cross-collateralized, lenders
may seek to foreclose upon properties that do not comprise the primary collateral for a loan, which may, in turn, result
in acceleration of other indebtedness collateralized by such properties. Foreclosure of properties would result in a loss
of income and asset value to us, making it difficult for us to meet both debt payment obligations and the distribution
requirements of the REIT provisions of the Code.
We may have to make lump-sum payments on our existing indebtedness.
We are required to make lump-sum or "balloon" payments under the terms of some of our indebtedness. Our ability to
make required payments of principal on outstanding indebtedness, whether at maturity or otherwise, may depend on
our ability to refinance the applicable indebtedness or to sell properties. Currently, we have no commitments to
refinance any of our indebtedness.
Our mortgages may impact our ability to sell encumbered properties on advantageous terms or at all.
Certain of our mortgages contain, and some future mortgages may contain, substantial prepayment premiums that we
would have to pay upon the sale of a property, thereby reducing the net proceeds to us from the sale of any such
property. As a result, our willingness to sell certain properties and the price at which we may desire to sell a property
may be impacted. If we are unable to sell properties on favorable terms or redeploy the proceeds of property sales in
accordance with our business strategy, then our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to
make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the
market value of the Units could be adversely affected.
Adverse market and economic conditions could cause us to recognize impairment charges.
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We regularly review our real estate assets for impairment indicators, such as a decline in a property's occupancy rate,
decline in general market conditions or a change in the expected hold period of an asset. If we determine that
indicators of impairment are present, we review the properties affected by these indicators to determine whether an
impairment charge is required. As a result, we may be required to recognize asset impairment, which could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We use considerable judgment in
making determinations about impairments, from analyzing whether there are indicators of impairment, to the
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the investment. Accordingly, our subjective estimates and evaluations
may not be accurate, and such estimates and evaluations are subject to change or revision.
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Earnings and cash dividends, asset value and market interest rates affect the price of the Company's common stock.
The market value of the Company's common stock is based in large part upon the market's perception of the growth
potential of the Company's earnings and cash dividends. The market value of the Company's common stock is also
based upon the value of the Company's underlying real estate assets. For this reason, shares of the Company's
common stock may trade at prices that are higher or lower than the Company's net asset value per share. To the extent
that the Company retains operating cash flow for investment purposes, working capital reserves, or other purposes,
these retained funds, while increasing the value of the Company's underlying assets, may not correspondingly increase
the market price of the Company's common stock. The Company's failure to meet the market's expectations with
regard to future earnings and the payment of cash dividends/distributions likely would adversely affect the market
price of the Company's common stock. Further, the distribution yield on the common stock (as a percentage of the
price of the common stock) relative to market interest rates may also influence the market price of the Company's
common stock. An increase in market interest rates might lead prospective purchasers of the Company's common
stock to expect a higher distribution yield, which would adversely affect the market price of the Company's common
stock. Any reduction in the market price of the Company's common stock would, in turn, reduce the market value of
the Units.
We may become subject to litigation.
We may become subject to litigation, including claims relating to our operations, offerings, and otherwise in the
ordinary course of business. Some of these claims may result in significant defense costs and potentially significant
judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. Resolution of these types of matters could
adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. Certain litigation or the resolution of
certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage, which could adversely impact
our results of operations and cash flows, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured, and/or adversely impact
our ability to attract officers and directors.
We may incur unanticipated costs and liabilities due to environmental problems.
Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, we may, as an owner or operator of real estate,
be liable for the costs of clean-up of certain conditions relating to the presence of hazardous or toxic materials on, in
or emanating from a property and any related damages to natural resources. Environmental laws often impose liability
without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of hazardous or toxic
materials. The presence of such materials, or the failure to address those conditions properly, may adversely affect our
ability to rent or sell a property or to borrow using a property as collateral. The disposal or treatment of hazardous or
toxic materials, or the arrangement of such disposal or treatment, may cause us to be liable for the costs of clean-up of
such materials or for related natural resource damages occurring at or emanating from an off-site disposal or treatment
facility, whether or not the facility is owned or operated by us. No assurance can be given that existing environmental
assessments with respect to any of our properties reveal all environmental liabilities, that any prior owner or operator
of any of our properties did not create any material environmental condition not known to us or that a material
environmental condition does not otherwise exist as to any of our properties. Moreover, there can be no assurance that
(i) changes to existing laws, ordinances or regulations to address, among other things, climate change, will not impose
any material environmental liability or (ii) the current environmental condition of our properties will not be affected
by customers, by the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of our properties (such as releases from
underground storage tanks), or by third-parties unrelated to us.
All of our properties were subject to a Phase I or similar environmental assessment by independent environmental
consultants at the time of acquisition. Phase I assessments are intended to discover and evaluate information regarding
the environmental condition of the surveyed property and surrounding properties. Phase I assessments generally
include a historical review, a public records review, an investigation of the surveyed site and surrounding properties,
and preparation and issuance of a written report, but do not include soil sampling or subsurface investigations and
typically do not include an asbestos survey. While some of these assessments have led to further investigation and
sampling, none of our environmental assessments of our properties have revealed an environmental liability that we
believe would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations taken as a
whole. However, we cannot give any assurance that such conditions do not exist or may not arise in the future.
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Material environmental conditions, liabilities or compliance concerns may arise after the environmental assessment
has been completed.
Environmental laws in the U.S. also require that owners or operators of buildings containing asbestos properly
manage and maintain the asbestos, adequately inform or train those who may come into contact with asbestos and
undertake special precautions, including removal or other abatement, in the event that asbestos is disturbed during
building renovation or demolition. These laws may impose fines and penalties on building owners or operators who
fail to comply with these requirements and may allow third-parties to seek recovery from owners or operators for
personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos. Some of our properties may contain asbestos-containing building
materials.
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We invest in properties historically used for industrial, manufacturing and commercial purposes. Some of these
properties contain, or may have contained, underground storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products and other
hazardous or toxic substances. All of these operations create a potential for the release of petroleum products or other
hazardous or toxic substances. Some of our properties are adjacent to or near other properties that may have contained
or currently contain underground storage tanks used to store petroleum products, or other hazardous or toxic
substances. In addition, previous or current occupants of our properties and adjacent properties may have engaged, or
may in the future engage, in activities that may release petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances.
We have a portfolio environmental insurance policy that provides coverage for potential environmental liabilities,
subject to the policy's coverage conditions and limitations, for most of our properties. From time to time, we may
acquire properties or interests in properties, with known adverse environmental conditions where we believe that the
environmental liabilities associated with these conditions are quantifiable and that the acquisition will yield a superior
risk-adjusted return. In such an instance, we underwrite the costs of environmental investigation, clean-up and
monitoring into the cost. Further, in connection with property dispositions, we may agree to remain responsible for,
and to bear the cost of, remediating or monitoring certain environmental conditions on the properties.
Our insurance coverage does not include all potential losses.
Real property is subject to casualty risk including damage, destruction, or loss resulting from events that are unusual,
sudden and unexpected. Some of our properties are located in areas where casualty risk is higher due to earthquake,
wind and/or flood risk. We carry comprehensive insurance coverage to mitigate our casualty risk, in amounts and of a
kind that we believe are appropriate for the markets where each of our properties and their business operations are
located. Among other coverage, we carry property, boiler and machinery, general liability, cyber liability, fire, flood,
terrorism, earthquake, extended coverage and rental loss insurance. Our coverage includes policy specifications and
limits customarily carried for similar properties and business activities.  We evaluate our level of insurance coverage
and deductibles using analysis and modeling, as is customary in our industry. However, we do not insure against all
types of casualty, and we may not fully insure against certain perils such as earthquake and cyber risk, either because
coverage is not available or because we do not deem it to be economically feasible or prudent to do so. As a result, we
could experience a significant loss of capital or revenues, and be exposed to obligations under recourse debt associated
with a property. This could occur due to an uninsured or high deductible loss, a loss in excess of insured limits, or a
loss not paid due to insurer insolvency.
We may incur significant costs complying with various federal, state and local laws, regulations and covenants that
are applicable to our properties and, in particular, costs associated with complying with regulations such as the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the "ADA") may result in unanticipated expenses.
The properties in our portfolio are subject to various covenants and U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulatory
requirements, including permitting and licensing requirements. Local regulations, including municipal or local
ordinances, zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by community developers may restrict our use of
our properties and may require us to obtain approval from local officials or restrict our use of our properties and may
require us to obtain approval from local officials of community standards organizations at any time with respect to our
properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when undertaking renovations of any of our existing properties.
Among other things, these restrictions may relate to fire and safety, seismic or hazardous material abatement
requirements. There can be no assurance that existing laws and regulatory policies will not adversely affect us or the
timing or cost of any future acquisitions or renovations, or that additional regulation will not be adopted that increase
such delays or result in additional costs. Our growth strategy may be affected by our ability to obtain permits, licenses
and zoning relief. Our failure to obtain such permits, licenses and zoning relief or to comply with applicable laws
could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.
In addition, under the ADA, all places of public accommodation are required to meet certain U.S. federal requirements
related to access and use by disabled persons. Noncompliance with the ADA could result in an order to correct any
non-complying feature, which could result in substantial capital expenditures. We do not conduct audits or
investigations of all of these properties to determine their compliance and we cannot predict the ultimate cost of
compliance with the ADA, or other legislation. If one or more of our properties in which we invest is not in
compliance with the ADA, or other legislation, then we would be required to incur additional costs to bring the
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property into compliance. If we incur substantial costs to comply with the ADA or other legislation, our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flow, our ability to satisfy debt service obligations and to make distributions to
our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units
could be adversely affected.
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Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the market for the Company's common stock, the
industry in which we conduct our operations and our profitability.
Acts of violence, including terrorist attacks could occur in the localities in which we conduct business. More
generally, these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result in increased volatility in
the worldwide financial markets and economy. These attacks or armed conflicts may adversely impact our operations
or financial condition. In addition, losses resulting from these types of events may be uninsurable.
We face risks relating to cybersecurity attacks that could cause loss of confidential information and other business
disruptions.
We rely extensively on computer systems to manage our business, and our business is at risk from and may be
impacted by cybersecurity attacks and security breaches. These could include attempts to gain unauthorized access to
our data and computer systems through malware, computer viruses, attachments to e-mails, persons inside our
Company or persons with access to systems inside our Company, and other significant disruptions of our information
technology networks and related systems.
The risk of a cybersecurity breach or disruption, particularly through a cyber incident, including by computer hackers,
foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of
attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Although we employ a number of measures to
prevent, detect and mitigate these threats, which include password protection, frequent password change events,
firewall detection systems, frequent backups, a redundant data system for core applications and annual penetration
testing, even the most well protected information, networks, systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable
because the techniques used in such attempted security breaches evolve and generally are not recognized until
launched against a target, and in some cases are designed to not be detected and, in fact, may not be detected.
Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate security barriers or other
preventative measures, and thus it is impossible for us to entirely mitigate this risk.
Moreover, although we maintain some of our own critical information technology systems, we also depend on third
parties to provide important information technology services relating to, for instance, payroll, electronic
communications and certain finance functions. The security measures employed by such third party service providers
may prove to be ineffective at preventing breaches of their systems.
A successful cybersecurity attack could, among other things:
•compromise the confidential information of our employees, tenants and vendors;

•disrupt the proper functioning of our networks and systems, and therefore our operations and/or those of certain of ourtenants;

•result in our inability to maintain the building systems relied upon by our tenants for the efficient use of their leasedspace;

•
result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of proprietary,
confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or others, which others could use to compete against
us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and outcomes;
•result in misstated financial reports, violations of loan covenants and/or missed reporting deadlines;

•result in our inability to properly monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations regarding our qualification asa REIT;
•require significant management attention and resources to remedy any damages that result;
•subject us to claims for breach of contract, damages, credits, penalties or termination of leases or other agreements; or
•damage our reputation among our tenants, investors and associates.
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Adverse changes in our credit ratings could negatively affect our liquidity and business operations.
The credit ratings of our senior unsecured notes are based on our operating performance, liquidity and leverage ratios,
overall financial position and other factors employed by the credit rating agencies in their rating analyses. Our credit
ratings can affect the availability, terms and pricing of any indebtedness we may incur or preferred stock that we
might issue going forward. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain any credit rating and, in the
event any credit rating is downgraded, we could incur higher borrowing costs or may be unable to access certain or
any capital markets.
Our business could be adversely impacted if we have deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or internal
control over financial reporting.
The design and effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting
may not prevent all errors, misstatements or misrepresentations. While management will continue to review the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, there can be no
guarantee that our internal control over financial reporting will be effective in accomplishing all control objectives all
of the time. Deficiencies, including any material weakness, in our internal control over financial reporting which may
occur could result in misstatements of our results of operations, restatements of our financial statements, a decline in
the price/value of our securities, or otherwise materially adversely affect our business, reputation, results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.
The Company is authorized to issue preferred stock. The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect the holders
of the Company's common stock issued pursuant to its public offerings.
Our declaration of trust authorizes the Company to issue 225,000,000 shares, of which 10,000,000 shares are
designated as preferred stock. Subject to approval by the Company's Board of Directors, the Company may issue
preferred stock with rights, preferences and privileges that are more beneficial than the rights, preferences and
privileges of its common stock. Holders of the Company's common stock do not have preemptive rights to acquire any
shares issued by the Company in the future. If the Company ever creates and issues preferred stock with a distribution
preference over common stock, payment of any distribution preferences on outstanding preferred stock would reduce
the amount of funds available for the payment of distributions to our common stockholders and Unitholders. In
addition, holders of preferred stock are normally entitled to receive a preference payment in the event of liquidation,
dissolution or winding up before any payment is made to our common stockholders, which would reduce the amount
our common stockholders and Unitholders, might otherwise receive upon such an occurrence. Also, under certain
circumstances, the issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of the
Company.
The Company's Board of Directors may change its strategies, policies or procedures without stockholder approval,
which may subject us to different and more significant risks in the future.
Our investment, financing, leverage and distribution policies and our policies with respect to all other activities,
including growth, debt, capitalization and operations, are determined by the Company's Board of Directors. These
policies may be amended or revised at any time and from time to time at the discretion of the Company's Board of
Directors without notice to or a vote of its stockholders. This could result in us conducting operational matters,
making investments or pursuing different business or growth strategies. Under these circumstances, we may expose
ourselves to different and more significant risks in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business and growth. In addition, the Company's Board of Directors may change its governance policies provided that
such changes are consistent with applicable legal requirements. A change in these policies could have an adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, ability to satisfy our principal and interest
obligations, ability to make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's
common stock and the market value of the Units.
We may be unable to retain and attract key management personnel.
We may be unable to retain and attract talented executives. In the event of the loss of key management personnel or
upon unexpected death, disability or retirement, we may not be able to find replacements with comparable skill,
ability and industry expertise. Until suitable replacements are identified and retained, if at all, our operating results
and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
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We could be subject to risks and liabilities in connection with joint venture arrangements.
Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of available funds that we may invest in joint ventures. We
have in the past and may in the future selectively acquire, own and/or develop properties through joint ventures with
other persons or entities when we deem such transactions are warranted by the circumstances. Joint venture
investments, in general, involve certain risks not present where we act alone, including:

•

joint venturers may share certain approval rights over major decisions, which might (i) significantly delay or make
impossible actions and decisions we believe are necessary or advisable with respect to properties owned through a
joint venture, and/or (ii) adversely affect our ability to develop, finance, lease or sell properties owned through a joint
venture at the most advantageous time for us, if at all;
•joint venturers might become bankrupt or otherwise fail to fund their share of any required capital contributions;

•
joint venturers might have economic or other business interests or goals that are competitive or inconsistent with our
business interests or goals that would affect our ability to develop, finance, lease, operate, manage or sell any
properties owned by the applicable joint venture;

•joint venturers may have the power to act contrary to our instructions, requests, policies or objectives, including ourcurrent policy with respect to maintaining the Company's qualification as a REIT;

•joint venture agreements often restrict the transfer of a member’s or joint venturer’s interest or may otherwise restrictour ability to sell our interest when we would like to or on advantageous terms;

•
disputes between us and our joint venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our
expenses and prevent our officers and directors from focusing their time and effort on our business and subject
the properties owned by the applicable joint venture to additional risk; and

•we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our joint venturers.
The occurrence of one or more of the events described above could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the
Company's common stock and the market value of the Units.
Item  1B.Unresolved SEC Comments
None.
Item  2.Properties
General
At December 31, 2018, we owned 447 in-service industrial properties containing an aggregate of approximately
60.7 million square feet of GLA in 21 states, with a diverse base of more than 1,150 tenants engaged in a wide variety
of businesses, including distribution, wholesale trade, professional services, manufacturing and retail. The average
annual base rent per square foot on a portfolio basis, calculated at December 31, 2018, was $5.22. The properties are
generally located in business parks that have convenient access to interstate highways and/or rail and air
transportation. We maintain insurance on our properties that we believe is adequate.
We classify our properties into four industrial categories: bulk warehouse, regional warehouse, light industrial and
R&D/flex. While some properties may have characteristics which fall under more than one property type, we use what
we believe is the most dominant characteristic to categorize the property. Individual properties may be reclassified
over time due to changes in building characteristics such as tenant use and office space build-out.
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The following describes, generally, the different industrial categories:

•Bulk warehouse buildings are of more than 100,000 square feet, have a ceiling height of at least 22 feet and arecomprised of 5%-15% of office space;

•Regional warehouses are of less than 100,000 square feet, have a ceiling height of at least 22 feet and are comprisedof 5%-15% of office space;

•Light industrial properties are of less than 100,000 square feet, have a ceiling height of 16-21 feet and are comprisedof 5%-50% of office space; and

•R&D/flex buildings are of less than 100,000 square feet, have a ceiling height of less than 16 feet and are comprisedof 50% or more of office space.
The following tables summarize, by market, certain information as of December 31, 2018, with respect to the
in-service properties.
In-Service Property Summary Totals

Bulk
Warehouse

Regional
Warehouse  Light

Industrial
R&D/Flex Total

Metropolitan Area
GLA
(in
000's)

Number of
Properties

GLA
(in
000's)

Number of
Properties

GLA
(in
000's)

Number of
Properties

GLA
(in
000's)

Number of
Properties

GLA
(in
000's)

Number of
Properties

Occupancy
at 12/31/18

Atlanta, GA 3,859 13 340 4 347 5 — — 4,546 22 94.5 %
Baltimore, MD 1,579 5 — — 315 5 52 1 1,946 11 100.0 %
Central/Eastern PA (A) 5,957 14 580 6 346 7 — — 6,883 27 96.4 %
Chicago, IL 4,737 14 326 6 255 5 — — 5,318 25 98.9 %
Cincinnati, OH 683 3 311 3 278 5 100 2 1,372 13 98.0 %
Cleveland, OH 1,128 6 — — — — — — 1,128 6 100.0 %
Dallas/Ft. Worth, TX 3,781 24 483 6 971 17 — — 5,235 47 98.6 %
Denver, CO 579 4 632 6 986 21 156 5 2,353 36 99.4 %
Detroit, MI 399 3 509 11 652 27 136 3 1,696 44 100.0 %
Houston, TX 2,592 12 377 5 470 8 — — 3,439 25 99.9 %
Indianapolis, IN 1,968 6 603 7 125 4 20 1 2,716 18 99.3 %
Miami, FL 315 2 345 7 72 1 — — 732 10 96.8 %
Milwaukee, WI 873 4 90 1 — — — — 963 5 100.0 %
Minneapolis/St. Paul, MN 2,779 13 145 2 322 4 406 5 3,652 24 96.9 %
Nashville, TN 979 3 — — 164 2 — — 1,143 5 100.0 %
New Jersey (A) 1,239 5 — — 781 14 172 3 2,192 22 98.9 %
Orlando, FL 427 3 180 2 79 1 — — 686 6 100.0 %
Phoenix, AZ 2,197 7 395 6 38 1 — — 2,630 14 99.9 %
Seattle, WA 101 1 162 3 — — — — 263 4 100.0 %
Southern California (A) 6,383 21 1,156 18 825 21 — — 8,364 60 99.6 %
St. Louis, MO 1,238 2 — — 65 1 192 2 1,495 5 98.9 %
Tampa, FL 210 1 — — 83 3 217 9 510 13 95.1 %
Other (B) 1,440 5 — — — — — — 1,440 5 100.0 %
Total 45,443 171 6,634 93 7,174 152 1,451 31 60,702 447 98.5 %
Occupancy by Industrial
Property Type 98.6 % 99.5 % 97.1 % 94.7 % 98.5 %

_______________

(A)
Central/Eastern PA includes the markets of Central Pennsylvania and Philadelphia. New Jersey includes the
markets of Northern and Southern New Jersey. Southern California includes the markets of Los Angeles, the
Inland Empire and San Diego.

(B)
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Properties are located in Kansas City, MO; Jefferson County, KY; Greenville, KY; Winchester, VA; and Salt Lake
City, UT.

Indebtedness
As of December 31, 2018, 102 of our 447 in-service industrial properties, with a net carrying value of $459.2 million,
are pledged as collateral under our mortgage financings, totaling $297.7 million, excluding unamortized debt issuance
costs. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Schedule III beginning on page S-1
for additional information.
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Property Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we acquired ten industrial properties and several land parcels for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $167.5 million. The industrial properties were acquired at an expected
stabilized capitalization rate of approximately 5.7%. The capitalization rate for these industrial property acquisitions
was calculated using the estimated stabilized net operating income (excluding straight-line rent and above and below
market lease amortization) and dividing it by the sum of the purchase price plus closing costs and estimated costs to
stabilize the properties. The acquired industrial properties have the following characteristics: 

Metropolitan Area
Number 
of
Properties

GLA Property Type
Occupancy
at 
12/31/18

Houston, TX 2 334,360 Bulk Warehouse 10 % (A)

New Jersey 1 119,922 Bulk Warehouse 100 %
Orlando, FL 1 93,608 Regional Warehouse 100 %
Seattle, WA 2 91,468 Regional Warehouse 38 %
Southern California 4 396,045 Bulk Warehouse, Regional Warehouse 57 %
Total 10 1,035,403
(A) As of December 31, 2018, percentage leased was 92%.
Development Activity
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we completed and placed in-service eight developments totaling
approximately 3.5 million square feet of GLA at a total cost of approximately $226.6 million. Included in the total
cost is $11.7 million of leasing commissions. The capitalization rate for these development projects, calculated using
the estimated stabilized net operating income (excluding straight-line rent adjustments) divided by the total investment
in the developed property is 7.9%. The placed in-service development projects have the following characteristics:

Metropolitan Area
Number 
of
Properties

GLA Property Type
Occupancy
at 
12/31/18

Chicago, IL 1 602,348 Bulk Warehouse 100 %
Phoenix, AZ 1 643,798 Bulk Warehouse 100 %
Southern California 6 2,208,414 Bulk Warehouse, Regional Warehouse 100 %
Total 8 3,454,560
As of December 31, 2018, we substantially completed six developments totaling approximately 1.8 million square feet
of GLA. The estimated total investment for the six developments is approximately $129.2 million, of which $115.3
million has been incurred as of December 31, 2018. There can be no assurance that the actual completion cost for
these developments will not exceed the estimated completion cost. The substantially completed developments have
the following characteristics:

Metropolitan Area
Number 
of
Properties

GLA Property Type Occupancy
at  12/31/18

Central/Eastern PA 2 988,920 Bulk Warehouse 0%
Chicago, IL 1 355,199 Bulk Warehouse 0%
Houston, TX 1 126,250 Bulk Warehouse 0%
Southern California 2 358,065 Bulk Warehouse 0%
Total 6 1,828,434
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As of December 31, 2018, we have seven development projects that are under construction totaling approximately
2.8 million square feet of GLA. The estimated total investment for the seven development projects under construction
is $189.4 million, of which $61.0 million has been incurred as of December 31, 2018. There can be no assurance that
the actual completion cost for these developments will not exceed the estimated completion cost. The development
projects under construction have the following characteristics:

Metropolitan Area
Number 
of
Properties

GLA Property Type Anticipated Quarter of Building Completion

Seattle, WA 1 66,751 Regional Warehouse Q2 2019
Dallas/Fort Worth, TX 2 345,280 Bulk Warehouse Q2 2019
Denver, CO 1 555,840 Bulk Warehouse Q3 2019
Southern California 1 239,950 Bulk Warehouse Q3 2019
Atlanta, GA 1 703,080 Bulk Warehouse Q3 2019
Dallas/Fort Worth, TX 1 863,328 Bulk Warehouse Q4 2019
Total 7 2,774,229
Property Sales
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold 53 industrial properties comprising approximately 2.6 million
square feet of GLA, at a weighted average capitalization rate of 6.3%, and several land parcels for total gross sales
proceeds of approximately $192.0 million. The capitalization rate for the 53 industrial property sales is calculated by
taking revenues of the property (excluding straight-line rent, lease inducement amortization, above and below market
lease amortization and insurance proceeds, other than business interruption insurance proceeds) less operating
expenses of the property for a period of the last twelve full months prior to sale and dividing the sum by the sales price
of the property. The sold industrial properties have the following characteristics:

Metropolitan Area
Number 
of
Properties

GLA Property Type

Atlanta, GA 1 364,000 Regional Warehouse
Baltimore/Washington 7 322,239 R & D/Flex, Regional Warehouse, Light Industrial
Chicago, IL 1 85,955 R & D/Flex
Dallas/Ft. Worth, TX 18 445,559 R & D/Flex, Regional Warehouse, Light Industrial
Denver, CO 4 145,700 Light Industrial
Detroit, MI 2 29,006 Light Industrial
Indianapolis, IN 1 54,000 Light Industrial
Miami, FL(A) 1 9,500 Light Industrial
New Jersey 2 196,026 Regional Warehouse, Light Industrial
Phoenix, AZ 2 210,417 Bulk Warehouse, Regional Warehouse
Southern California 2 142,241 Regional Warehouse, Light Industrial
St. Louis, MO 4 317,109 Light Industrial
Tampa, FL 8 266,362 R & D/Flex, Light Industrial
Total 53 2,588,114

(A) Partial sale of a 0.1 million square-foot industrial property.
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Tenant and Lease Information
We have a diverse base of more than 1,150 tenants engaged in a wide variety of businesses including distribution,
wholesale trade, professional services, manufacturing and retail. At December 31, 2018, our leases have a weighted
average lease length of 6.8 years and the majority provide for periodic rent increases that are either fixed or based on
changes in the Consumer Price Index. Industrial tenants typically have net or semi-net leases and pay as additional
rent their percentage of the property's operating costs, including the costs of common area maintenance, utilities,
property taxes and insurance. As of December 31, 2018, approximately 98.5% of the GLA of our in-service properties
was leased, and no single tenant or group of related tenants accounted for more than 2.6% of our rent revenues, nor
did any single tenant or group of related tenants occupy more than 2.3% of the total GLA of our in-service properties.
Leasing Activity
The following table provides a summary of our leasing activity for the year ended December 31, 2018. The table does
not include month-to-month leases or leases with terms less than twelve months.  

Number of
Leases
Commenced

Square Feet
Commenced
(in 000's)

Net Rent Per
Square Foot (A)

Straight
Line Basis
Rent 
Growth (B)

Weighted
Average 
Lease
Term (C)

Lease Costs
Per Square
Foot (D)

Weighted
Average
Tenant
Retention (E)

New Leases 128 2,342 $ 5.82 21.1 % 6.2 $ 5.10 N/A
Renewal Leases 187 7,421 $ 5.11 20.4 % 4.5 $ 1.43 82.8 %
Development / Acquisition
Leases 18 3,485 $ 5.39 N/A 8.8 N/A N/A

Total / Weighted Average 333 13,248 $ 5.31 20.6 % 5.9 $ 2.31 82.8 %
_______________
(A) Net rent is the average base rent calculated in accordance with GAAP, over the term of the lease.

(B)
Straight Line basis rent growth is a ratio of the change in net rent (including straight-line rent adjustments) on a
new or renewal lease compared to the net rent (including straight-line rent adjustments) of the comparable lease.
New leases where there were no prior comparable leases are excluded.

(C) The lease term is expressed in years. Assumes no exercise of lease renewal options, if any.

(D)

Lease costs are comprised of the costs incurred or capitalized for improvements of vacant and renewal spaces, as
well as the commissions paid and costs capitalized for leasing transactions. Lease costs per square foot represent
the total turnover costs expected to be incurred on the leases signed during the period and do not reflect actual
expenditures for the period.

(E) Represents the weighted average square feet of tenants renewing their respective leases.
The following table provides a summary of our leases that commenced during the year ended December 31, 2018,
which included rent concessions during the lease term.  

Number of
Leases
With Rent
Concessions

Square Feet
(in 000's)

Rent
Concessions
($)

New Leases 74 1,601 $ 2,071
Renewal Leases 12 422 $ 688
Development / Acquisition Leases 17 3,467 $ 7,392
Total 103 5,490 $ 10,151
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Lease Expirations
Fundamentals for the United States industrial real estate market remained favorable in 2018, as continued growth in
the general economy, including e-commerce supply chain activity, drove additional demand for space. New industrial
space continued to be developed in response to this growth in demand. Incremental demand exceeded new supply in
2018, with net absorption exceeding 200 million square feet nationally for the sixth consecutive year. National
vacancy levels remained low and the overall industry conditions resulted in environments supportive of rental rate
growth in virtually all of our markets. Based on our recent experience, a new supply/demand environment near
equilibrium, and the 2019 forecast from a leading national research company, we expect our average net rental rates
for renewal leases on a cash basis to be higher than the expiring rates. For 2019, net rental rates for new leases on a
cash basis on average are also expected to be higher than the comparative prior leases, primarily due to the
improvement in market conditions as compared to the conditions prevailing when the comparative leases were
structured. The following table shows scheduled lease expirations for all leases for our in-service properties as of
December 31, 2018.

Year of Expiration (A)
Number of
Leases
Expiring

GLA
Expiring
(B)

Percentage
of  GLA
Expiring
(B)

Annualized
Base Rent
Under
Expiring
Leases
(In
thousands)
(C)

Percentage
of Total
Annualized
Base Rent
Expiring
(C)

2019 158 4,250,316 7 % $ 21,729 7 %
2020 222 7,290,840 12 % 38,731 13 %
2021 240 10,170,890 17 % 51,266 17 %
2022 163 6,363,198 11 % 32,996 11 %
2023 174 7,929,705 13 % 40,506 14 %
2024 100 5,973,426 10 % 29,181 10 %
2025 48 4,707,745 8 % 22,478 7 %
2026 38 4,086,190 7 % 17,432 6 %
2027 16 2,720,602 5 % 13,992 5 %
2028 12 1,765,484 3 % 8,445 3 %
Thereafter 24 3,894,574 7 % 20,637 7 %
Total 1,195 59,152,970 100 % $ 297,393 100 %
_______________

(A) Includes leases that expire on or after January 1, 2019 and assumes tenants do not exercise existing renewal,
termination or purchase options.

(B) Does not include existing vacancies of 931,314 aggregate square feet and December 31, 2018 move outs of
618,032 aggregate square feet.

(C) Annualized base rent is calculated as monthly base rent (cash basis) per the terms of the lease, as of December 31,
2018, multiplied by 12. If free rent is granted, then the first positive rent value is used.

Item  3.Legal Proceedings
We are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. All such proceedings, taken together,
are not expected to have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity.
Item  4.Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART II

Item  5.Market for Registrant's Common Equity / Partners' Capital, Related Stockholder / Unitholder Matters andIssuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices per share of the Company's
common stock, which trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "FR" and the dividends
declared per share for the Company's common stock and the distributions declared per Unit for the Operating
Partnership's Units. There is no established public trading market for the Units.

Quarter Ended Closing
High

Closing
Low

Dividend/Distribution
Declared

December 31, 2018 $32.40 $27.60 $ 0.2175
September 30, 2018 $33.87 $30.78 $ 0.2175
June 30, 2018 $33.67 $28.58 $ 0.2175
March 31, 2018 $31.17 $27.75 $ 0.2175
December 31, 2017 $32.82 $30.49 $ 0.2100
September 30, 2017 $31.74 $28.21 $ 0.2100
June 30, 2017 $30.04 $26.88 $ 0.2100
March 31, 2017 $28.66 $25.35 $ 0.2100
As of February 15, 2019, the Company had 397 common stockholders of record. The number of holders does not
include individuals or entities who beneficially own shares but whose shares are held of record by a broker or clearing
agency, but does include each such broker or clearing agency as one record holder. The Operating Partnership had 117
holders of record of Units registered with our transfer agent.
In order to comply with the REIT requirements of the Code, the Company is generally required to make common
share distributions and preferred share distributions (other than capital gain distributions) to its shareholders in
amounts that together at least equal i) the sum of a) 90% of the Company's "REIT taxable income" computed without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and net capital gains and b) 90% of net income (after tax), if any, from
foreclosure property, minus ii) certain excess non-cash income.
Our dividend/distribution policy is determined by the Company's Board of Directors and is dependent on multiple
factors, including cash flow and capital expenditure requirements, as well as ensuring that the Company meets the
minimum distribution requirements set forth in the Code. The Company met the minimum distribution requirements
with respect to 2018.
Holders of Units are entitled to receive distributions when, as and if declared by the Company's Board of Directors,
after the priority distributions required under the Operating Partnership's partnership agreement have been made with
respect to preferred partnership interests in the Operating Partnership out of any funds legally available for that
purpose.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership did not issue any Limited Partner Units.
Subject to certain lock-up periods, holders of Limited Partner Units can redeem their Units by providing written
notification to the General Partner of the Operating Partnership. Unless the General Partner provides notice of a
redemption restriction to the holder, redemption must be made within seven business days after receipt of the holder's
notice. The redemption can be effectuated, as determined by the General Partner, either by exchanging the Limited
Partner Units for shares of common stock of the Company on a one-for-one basis, subject to adjustment, or by paying
cash equal to the fair market value of such shares. Prior requests for redemption have generally been fulfilled with
shares of common stock of the Company, and the Operating Partnership intends to continue this practice. If each
Limited Partner Unit of the Operating Partnership were redeemed as of December 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership
could satisfy its redemption obligations by making an aggregate cash payment of approximately $75.7 million or by
issuing 2,624,167 shares of the Company's common stock.
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Performance Graph
The following graph provides a comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return among the Company, the FTSE
NAREIT Equity REIT Total Return Index (the "NAREIT Index") and the Standard & Poor's 500 Index ("S&P 500").
The NAREIT Index represents the performance of our publicly traded industrial REIT peers. The historical
information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance.
*$100 invested on 12/31/13 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

12/13 12/14 12/15 12/16 12/17 12/18
FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC. $100.00 $120.39 $132.80 $173.25 $200.06 $188.79
S&P 500 $100.00 $113.69 $115.26 $129.05 $157.22 $150.33
FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs $100.00 $130.14 $134.30 $145.74 $153.36 $146.27
_______________

*
The information provided in this performance graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material,” to be “filed”
or to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 unless specifically treated as such.
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Item 6.Selected Financial Data
The following tables set forth the selected financial and operating data for the Company and the Operating Partnership
on a consolidated basis. The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
The Company

Year Ended
12/31/18

Year Ended
12/31/17

Year Ended
12/31/16

Year Ended
12/31/15

Year Ended
12/31/14

(In thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Total Revenues $403,954 $396,402 $378,020 $365,823 $346,709
Income from Continuing Operations 167,334 208,301 125,684 76,705 23,182
Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc.'s Common Stockholders and
Participating Securities

163,239 201,456 121,232 73,802 46,629

Basic Per Share Data:
Income from Continuing Operations Available to
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders

$1.31 $1.70 $1.05 $0.67 $0.18

Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc.'s Common Stockholders 1.31 1.70 1.05 0.67 0.42

Diluted Per Share Data:
Income from Continuing Operations Available to
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders

$1.31 $1.69 $1.05 $0.66 $0.18

Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc.'s Common Stockholders 1.31 1.69 1.05 0.66 0.42

Dividends/Distributions Per Share $0.87 $0.84 $0.76 $0.51 $0.41
Basic Weighted Average Shares 123,804 118,272 115,030 110,352 109,922
Diluted Weighted Average Shares 124,191 118,787 115,370 110,781 110,325
Balance Sheet Data (End of Period):
Real Estate, Before Accumulated Depreciation $3,673,644 $3,495,745 $3,384,914 $3,293,968 $3,183,369
Total Assets 3,142,691 2,941,062 2,793,263 2,709,808 2,574,911
Indebtedness 1,297,783 1,296,997 1,347,092 1,434,168 1,342,762
Total Equity 1,679,911 1,475,877 1,284,625 1,115,135 1,090,827
Cash Flow Data:
Cash Flow From Operating Activities $210,495 $192,562 $173,889 $162,149 $137,609
Cash Flow From Investing Activities (223,398 ) (82,495 ) (122,395 ) (175,898 ) (67,240 )
Cash Flow From Financing Activities 16,794 (85,046 ) (57,025 ) 29,426 (66,599 )
Other Data:
Funds from Operations Available to First Industrial
Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common Stockholders and
Participating Securities (A)

$199,391 $186,496 $167,811 $140,841 $127,890

_______________

(A)

Funds from operations ("FFO") is a non-GAAP measure used in the real estate industry. See definition and a
complete reconciliation of FFO to Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders and Participating Securities under the caption "Supplemental Earnings Measure" under Item 7,
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
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The Operating Partnership
Year Ended
12/31/18

Year Ended
12/31/17

Year Ended
12/31/16

Year Ended
12/31/15

Year Ended
12/31/14

(In thousands, except per Unit data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Total Revenues $403,954 $396,402 $378,020 $365,823 $346,709
Income from Continuing Operations 167,334 208,301 125,684 76,820 23,434
Net Income Available to Unitholders and
Participating Securities 167,246 208,158 125,547 76,682 48,704

Basic Per Unit Data:
Income from Continuing Operations Available to
Unitholders $1.31 $1.70 $1.05 $0.67 $0.18

Net Income Available to Unitholders 1.31 1.70 1.05 0.67 0.42
Diluted Per Unit Data:
Income from Continuing Operations Available to
Unitholders $1.31 $1.69 $1.05 $0.66 $0.18

Net Income Available to Unitholders 1.31 1.69 1.05 0.66 0.42
Distributions Per Unit $0.87 $0.84 $0.76 $0.51 $0.41
Basic Weighted Average Units 126,921 122,306 119,274 114,709 114,388
Diluted Weighted Average Units 127,308 122,821 119,614 115,138 114,791
Balance Sheet Data (End of Period):
Real Estate, Before Accumulated Depreciation $3,673,644 $3,495,745 $3,384,914 $3,293,968 $3,183,369
Total Assets 3,152,799 2,951,180 2,803,701 2,720,523 2,585,624
Indebtedness 1,297,783 1,296,997 1,347,092 1,434,168 1,342,762
Total Partners' Capital 1,690,019 1,485,995 1,295,063 1,125,850 1,101,590
Cash Flow Data:
Cash Flow From Operating Activities $210,505 $192,881 $174,166 $162,286 $138,352
Cash Flow From Investing Activities (223,398 ) (82,494 ) (122,395 ) (175,898 ) (67,895 )
Cash Flow From Financing Activities 16,784 (85,366 ) (57,302 ) 29,304 (66,687 )
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the sections of this Form 10-K titled "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Selected Financial Data"
and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Business Overview
The Company is a self-administered and fully integrated real estate company which owns, manages, acquires, sells,
develops and redevelops industrial real estate. The Company is a Maryland corporation organized on August 10, 1993
and a real estate investment trust as defined in the Code.
We believe our financial condition and results of operations are, primarily, a function of our performance in four key
areas: leasing of industrial properties, acquisition and development of additional industrial properties, disposition of
industrial properties and access to external capital.
We generate revenue primarily from rental income and tenant recoveries from operating leases of our industrial
properties. Such revenue is offset by certain property specific operating expenses, such as real estate taxes, repairs and
maintenance, property management, utilities and insurance expenses, along with certain other costs and expenses,
such as depreciation and amortization costs and general and administrative and interest expenses. Our revenue growth
is dependent, in part, on our ability to: (i) increase rental income, through increasing either or both occupancy rates
and rental rates at our properties; (ii) maximize tenant recoveries; and (iii) minimize operating and certain other
expenses. Revenues generated from rental income and tenant recoveries are a significant source of funds, in addition
to income generated from gains on the sale of our properties (as discussed below), for our liquidity. The leasing of
property, in general, and occupancy rates, rental rates, operating expenses and certain non-operating expenses, in
particular, are impacted, variously, by property specific, market specific, general economic and other conditions, many
of which are beyond our control. The leasing of property also entails various risks, including the risk of tenant default.
If we were unable to maintain or increase occupancy rates and rental rates at our properties or to maintain tenant
recoveries and operating and certain other expenses consistent with historical levels and proportions, our revenue
would decline. Further, if a significant number of our tenants were unable to pay rent (including tenant recoveries) or
if we were unable to rent our properties on favorable terms, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow
and ability to make distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common
stock and the market value of the Units would be adversely affected.
Our revenue growth is also dependent, in part, on our ability to acquire existing, and develop new industrial properties
on favorable terms. We seek to identify opportunities to acquire existing industrial properties on favorable terms, and,
when conditions permit, also seek to acquire and develop new industrial properties on favorable terms. Existing
properties, as they are acquired, and acquired and developed properties, as they are leased, generate revenue from
rental income, tenant recoveries and fees, income from which, as discussed above, is a source of funds for our
distributions to our stockholders and Unitholders. The acquisition and development of properties is impacted,
variously, by property specific, market specific, general economic and other conditions, many of which are beyond
our control. The acquisition and development of properties also entails various risks, including the risk that our
investments may not perform as expected. For example, acquired existing and acquired and developed new properties
may not sustain and/or achieve anticipated occupancy and rental rate levels. With respect to acquired and developed
new properties, we may not be able to complete construction on schedule or within budget, resulting in increased debt
service expense and construction costs and delays in leasing the properties. Also, we face significant competition for
attractive acquisition and development opportunities from other well-capitalized real estate investors, including
publicly-traded REITs and private investors. Further, as discussed below, we may not be able to finance the
acquisition and development opportunities we identify. If we were unable to acquire and develop sufficient additional
properties on favorable terms, or if such investments did not perform as expected, our revenue growth would be
limited and our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our
stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units
would be adversely affected.
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We also generate income from the sale of our properties (including existing buildings, buildings which we have
developed or re-developed on a merchant basis and land). The gain or loss on, and fees from, the sale of such
properties are included in our income and can be a significant source of funds, in addition to revenues generated from
rental income and tenant recoveries. Proceeds from sales are used to repay outstanding debt and, market conditions
permitting, may be used to fund the acquisition of existing industrial properties, and the acquisition and development
of new industrial properties. The sale of properties is impacted, variously, by property specific, market specific,
general economic and other conditions, many of which are beyond our control. The sale of properties also entails
various risks, including competition from other sellers and the availability of attractive financing for potential buyers
of our properties. Further, our ability to sell properties is limited by safe harbor rules applying to REITs under the
Code which relate to the number of properties that may be disposed of in a year, their tax bases and the cost of
improvements made to the properties, along with other tests which enable a REIT to avoid punitive taxation on the
sale of assets. If we are unable to sell properties on favorable terms, our income growth would be limited and our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our stockholders and
Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units could be adversely
affected.
We utilize a portion of the net sales proceeds from property sales, borrowings under our Unsecured Credit Facility and
proceeds from the issuance, when and as warranted, of additional debt and equity securities to refinance debt and
finance future acquisitions and developments. Access to external capital on favorable terms plays a key role in our
financial condition and results of operations, as it impacts our cost of capital and our ability and cost to refinance
existing indebtedness as it matures and our ability to fund acquisitions and developments. Our ability to access
external capital on favorable terms is dependent on various factors, including general market conditions, interest rates,
credit ratings on our debt, the market's perception of our growth potential, our current and potential future earnings
and cash distributions and the market price of the Company's common stock. If we were unable to access external
capital on favorable terms, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to
our stockholders and Unitholders, the market price of the Company's common stock and the market value of the Units
could be adversely affected.
Summary of Significant Transactions During 2018
During 2018, we completed the following significant transactions and financing activities:

•
We acquired 10 industrial properties comprised of approximately 1.0 million square feet of GLA located in our
Seattle, Orlando, Southern California, New Jersey and Houston markets for an aggregate purchase price of $124.9
million.

• We acquired 271.7 acres of land for development located in our Dallas, Denver, Seattle, Southern California,
New Jersey and Miami markets for an aggregate purchase price of $42.6 million.

•We developed, placed in-service and leased at 100%, 8 industrial properties comprising approximately 3.5 million
square feet of GLA located in Southern California, Chicago and Phoenix at an estimated total cost of $226.6 million.

•We sold 53 industrial properties comprised of approximately 2.6 million square feet of GLA and several land parcels
for total gross sales proceeds of $192.0 million.

•
We entered into the Joint Venture with a third party and acquired, for a purchase price of $49.0 million,
approximately 532 net developable acres of land located in Phoenix for the purpose of developing, selling,
leasing and operating industrial properties.

•We issued $150.0 million of ten-year private placement notes at a rate of 3.86% and $150.0 million of twelve-year
private placement notes at a rate of 3.96%.

•We issued 4,800,000 shares of the Company's common stock in an underwritten public offering. Proceeds to the
Company, net of the underwriter's discount, were $145.6 million.
•We paid off $157.8 million in mortgage loans payable.
•We declared an annual cash dividend of $0.87 per common share or Unit, an increase of 3.6% from 2017.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2018 to Year Ended December 31, 2017
Our net income was $167.3 million and $208.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The tables below summarize our revenues, property expenses and depreciation and other amortization by various
categories for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. Same store properties are properties owned prior to
January 1, 2017 and held as an in-service property through December 31, 2018 and developments and redevelopments
that were placed in service prior to January 1, 2017 or were substantially completed for the 12 months prior to
January 1, 2017. Properties which are at least 75% occupied at acquisition are placed in service, unless we anticipate
the tenants to move out within the first two years of ownership. Acquisitions that are less than 75% occupied at the
date of acquisition, developments and redevelopments are placed in service as they reach the earlier of a) stabilized
occupancy (generally defined as 90% occupied), or b) one year subsequent to acquisition or
development/redevelopment construction completion. Acquired properties with occupancy greater than 75% at
acquisition, but with tenants that we anticipate will move out in the first year of ownership, will be placed in service
upon the earlier of reaching 90% occupancy or twelve months after move out. Properties are moved from the same
store classification to the redevelopment classification when capital expenditures for a project are estimated to exceed
25% of the undepreciated gross book value of the property. Acquired properties are properties that were acquired
subsequent to December 31, 2016 and held as an operating property through December 31, 2018. Sold properties are
properties that were sold subsequent to December 31, 2016. (Re)Developments include developments and
redevelopments that were not: a) substantially complete 12 months prior to January 1, 2017; or b) stabilized prior to
January 1, 2017. Other revenues are derived from the operations of properties not placed in service under one of the
categories discussed above, the operations of our maintenance company and other miscellaneous revenues. Other
property expenses are derived from the operations of properties not placed in service under one of the categories
discussed above, the operations of our maintenance company, vacant land expenses and other miscellaneous regional
expenses.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, one industrial property, comprising approximately 0.1 million square feet
of GLA, was taken out of service for redevelopment. As a result of taking this industrial property out of service, the
results of operations were reclassified from the same store property classification to the re(development)
classification. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we completed the redevelopment of this property and the
property is 100% occupied. This property will return to the same store classification in the first quarter 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, one industrial property, comprising approximately 0.1 million square feet
of GLA, was taken out of service due to a fire which caused major damage to the building. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, we recognized $1.3 million of insurance proceeds, inclusive of business interruption proceeds,
within other income. Also, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold the remaining property and as such, the
results of this property are included in the sold classification.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, one industrial property, comprising approximately 28 thousand square feet
of GLA, was taken out of service due to a fire which caused complete destruction of the building. The results of this
property are included in the (re) development classification. We anticipate the rebuild of this property will be
complete during the first quarter 2019 and as of December 31, 2018, the property is 100% pre-leased. This property
will return to the same store classification in the first quarter 2021.
Our future financial condition and results of operations, including rental revenues, may be impacted by the future
acquisition, (re)development and sale of properties. Our future revenues and expenses may vary materially from
historical rates.
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the average occupancy rates of our same store properties were
97.5% and 96.2%, respectively.
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2018 2017 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

REVENUES
Same Store Properties $365,873 $349,196 $16,677 4.8  %
Acquired Properties 12,462 4,243 8,219 193.7  %
Sold Properties 11,354 36,484 (25,130 ) (68.9 )%
(Re) Developments 11,393 4,626 6,767 146.3  %
Other 2,872 1,853 1,019 55.0  %
Total Revenues $403,954 $396,402 $7,552 1.9  %
Revenues from same store properties increased $16.7 million due primarily to an increase in occupancy and rental
rates as well as tenant recoveries. Revenues from acquired properties increased $8.2 million due to the 18 industrial
properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2016 totaling approximately 2.1 million square feet of GLA.
Revenues from sold properties decreased $25.1 million due to the 113 industrial properties sold subsequent to
December 31, 2016 totaling approximately 7.2 million square feet of GLA. Revenues from (re)developments
increased $6.8 million due to an increase in occupancy. Revenues from other increased $1.0 million primarily due to
an increase in interest income earned on our cash equivalents, as well as an increase in occupancy related to one
property acquired in 2016 and placed in service during 2017.

2018 2017 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

PROPERTY EXPENSES
Same Store Properties $97,053 $91,417 $ 5,636 6.2  %
Acquired Properties 3,850 1,105 2,745 248.4  %
Sold Properties 3,461 11,695 (8,234 ) (70.4 )%
(Re) Developments 4,090 1,392 2,698 193.8  %
Other 8,400 7,885 515 6.5  %
Total Property Expenses $116,854 $113,494 $ 3,360 3.0  %
Property expenses include real estate taxes, repairs and maintenance, property management, utilities, insurance and
other property related expenses. Property expenses from same store properties increased $5.6 million primarily due to
an increase in real estate taxes, snow removal costs, and insurance expense. Property expenses from acquired
properties increased $2.7 million due to properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2016. Property expenses
from sold properties decreased $8.2 million due to properties sold subsequent to December 31, 2016. Property
expenses from (re)developments increased $2.7 million primarily due to the substantial completion of developments.
Property expenses from other increased $0.5 million due to an increase in real estate taxes.
General and administrative expense remained relatively unchanged. However, during the three months ended March
31, 2018, we incurred $1.3 million of severance expense. The increase in severance expense is offset by an increase in
the capitalization of compensation of certain development personnel due to an increase in development activities as
well as a decrease in amortization of restricted stock, which decrease is primarily due to immediate recognition of
$1.6 million of expense related to the issuance of restricted stock to our former CEO during the three months ended
March 31, 2017.
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2018 2017 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

DEPRECIATION AND OTHER AMORTIZATION
Same Store Properties $100,525 $101,770 $ (1,245 ) (1.2 )%
Acquired Properties 7,293 2,476 4,817 194.5  %
Sold Properties 2,703 9,388 (6,685 ) (71.2 )%
(Re) Developments 4,571 1,582 2,989 188.9  %
Corporate Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment and Other 1,367 1,148 219 19.1  %
Total Depreciation and Other Amortization $116,459 $116,364 $95 0.1  %
Depreciation and other amortization from same store properties decreased by $1.2 million due to certain leasing
intangibles becoming fully amortized during the year ended December 31, 2017 partially offset by accelerated
depreciation and amortization taken during the year ended December 31, 2018 attributable to certain tenants who
terminated their leases early. Depreciation and other amortization from acquired properties increased $4.8 million due
to properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2016. Depreciation and other amortization from sold properties
decreased $6.7 million due to properties sold subsequent to December 31, 2016. Depreciation and other amortization
from (re)developments increased $3.0 million primarily due to an increase in depreciation and amortization related to
completed developments. Depreciation from corporate furniture, fixtures and equipment and other increased $0.2
million primarily due to capital expenditures incurred at one property that was acquired in 2016 and placed in service
in 2017.
The impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $2.8 million was due to marketing a property and a
land parcel for sale and our assessment of the likelihood of potential sales transaction. The property and the land
parcel for which impairment was recorded were sold later during the year ended December 31, 2018.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized $81.6 million of gain on sale of real estate related to the sale of
53 industrial properties comprising approximately 2.6 million square feet of GLA and several land parcels. For the
year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized $131.3 million of gain on sale of real estate related to the sale of 60
industrial properties comprising approximately 4.6 million square feet of GLA and one land parcel.
Interest expense decreased $6.4 million, or 11.2%, primarily due to a decrease in the weighted average debt balance
outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($1,334.8 million) as compared to the year ended December 31,
2017 ($1,392.2 million), a decrease in the weighted average interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2018
(4.24%) as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 (4.42%), and an increase in capitalized interest of $1.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 due to an increase in
development activities.
Amortization of debt issuance costs increased $0.2 million, or 7.7%, primarily due to additional amortization from
fees incurred related to the amendment to our credit facility and term loans in October 2017 and the issuance of the
2028 and 2030 Private Placement Notes in February 2018, offset by less amortization due to the payoffs of the 2017
Notes, the 2017 II Notes and certain mortgage loans.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded $1.9 million of settlement gain on derivative instruments. In
September 2017, we entered into treasury locks (the "2017 Treasury Locks") in order to fix the interest rate on an
anticipated unsecured debt offering. The 2017 Treasury Locks were settled during the fourth quarter of 2017. We did
not elect to designate the Treasury Locks as hedges and, as such, we recorded the full change in the fair value of the
2017 Treasury Locks within the consolidated statement of operations. 
For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized a loss from retirement of debt of $1.8 million due to
prepayment penalties related to the early payoff of certain mortgage loans and the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs on these mortgage loans as well as the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs related to an exiting
lender on our revolving line of credit and one of our unsecured term loans.
Equity in loss of Joint Venture was not significant.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the income tax benefit was not significant. For the year ended December 31,
2017, we recognized a tax provision of $1.2 million primarily related to taxable gain from the sale of real estate from
one of our TRSs.
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Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2017 to Year Ended December 31, 2016
The Company's net income was $208.3 million and $125.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
The tables below summarize our revenues, property expenses and depreciation and other amortization by various
categories for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. Same store properties are properties owned prior to
January 1, 2016 and held as an in-service property through December 31, 2017 and developments and redevelopments
that were placed in service prior to January 1, 2016 or were substantially completed for the 12 months prior to
January 1, 2016. Properties which are at least 75% occupied at acquisition are placed in service, unless we anticipate
the tenants to move out within the first two years of ownership. Acquisitions that are less than 75% occupied at the
date of acquisition, developments and redevelopments are placed in service as they reach the earlier of a) stabilized
occupancy (generally defined as 90% occupied), or b) one year subsequent to acquisition or
development/redevelopment construction completion. Acquired properties with occupancy greater than 75% at
acquisition, but with tenants that we anticipate will move out in the first year of ownership, will be placed in service
upon the earlier of reaching 90% occupancy or twelve months after move out. Properties are moved from the same
store classification to the redevelopment classification when capital expenditures for a project are estimated to exceed
25% of the undepreciated gross book value of the property. Acquired properties are properties that were acquired
subsequent to December 31, 2015 and held as an operating property through December 31, 2017. Sold properties are
properties that were sold subsequent to December 31, 2015. (Re)Developments include developments and
redevelopments that were not: a) substantially complete 12 months prior to January 1, 2016; or b) stabilized prior to
January 1, 2016. Other revenues are derived from the operations of properties not placed in service under one of the
categories discussed above, the operations of our maintenance company and other miscellaneous revenues. Other
property expenses are derived from the operations of properties not placed in service under one of the categories
discussed above, the operations of our maintenance company, vacant land expenses and other miscellaneous regional
expenses.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, one industrial property, comprising approximately 28 thousand square feet
of GLA, was taken out of service due to a fire which caused complete destruction of the building. The results of this
property are included in the (re) development classification. We anticipate the rebuild of this property will be
complete during the first quarter 2019 and as of December 31, 2018, the property is 100% pre-leased. This property
will return to the same store classification in the first quarter 2021.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, one industrial property, comprising approximately 0.1 million square feet
of GLA, was taken out of service due to a fire which caused major damage to the building. The results of this property
are included in the (re) development classification. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold the remaining
land parcel.
Our future financial condition and results of operations, including rental revenues, may be impacted by the future
acquisition, (re)development and sale of properties. Our future revenues and expenses may vary materially from
historical rates.
For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the average occupancy rates of our same store properties were
96.2% and 96.4%, respectively.
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2017 2016 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

REVENUES
Same Store Properties $339,403 $329,704 $9,699 2.9  %
Acquired Properties 9,021 2,409 6,612 274.5  %
Sold Properties 17,010 33,260 (16,250 ) (48.9 )%
(Re) Developments 26,850 10,036 16,814 167.5  %
Other 4,118 2,611 1,507 57.7  %
Total Revenues $396,402 $378,020 $18,382 4.9  %
Revenues from same store properties increased $9.7 million due primarily to an increase in rental rates and tenant
recoveries, slightly offset by a decrease in occupancy. Revenues from acquired properties increased $6.6 million due
to the 14 industrial properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2015 totaling approximately 1.8 million square
feet of GLA. Revenues from sold properties decreased $16.3 million due to the 123 industrial properties sold
subsequent to December 31, 2015 totaling approximately 8.6 million square feet of GLA. Revenues from
(re)developments increased $16.8 million due to an increase in occupancy. Revenues from other increased $1.5
million primarily due to an increase in occupancy related to three properties acquired in the year ended December 31,
2015 that were placed in service during the year ended December 31, 2016.

2017 2016 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

PROPERTY EXPENSES
Same Store Properties $90,755 $88,218 $ 2,537 2.9  %
Acquired Properties 2,462 600 1,862 310.3  %
Sold Properties 5,527 11,684 (6,157 ) (52.7 )%
(Re) Developments 5,797 2,449 3,348 136.7  %
Other 8,953 9,373 (420 ) (4.5 )%
Total Property Expenses $113,494 $112,324 $ 1,170 1.0  %
Property expenses include real estate taxes, repairs and maintenance, property management, utilities, insurance and
other property related expenses. Property expenses from same store properties increased $2.5 million primarily due to
an increase in real estate tax expense caused by higher assessed values on our properties and real estate tax abatements
expiring. Property expenses from acquired properties increased $1.9 million due to properties acquired subsequent to
December 31, 2015. Property expenses from sold properties decreased $6.2 million due to properties sold subsequent
to December 31, 2015. Property expenses from (re)developments increased $3.3 million primarily due to the
substantial completion of developments. Property expenses from other decreased $0.4 million due to a decrease in
certain miscellaneous expenses.
General and administrative expense increased $1.4 million, or 5.2%, primarily due to an increase in incentive
compensation during the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016.
As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, on January 1, 2017 we adopted a new accounting
standard relating to the definition of a business. As a result of this adoption, our acquisitions of real estate during the
year ended December 31, 2017 did not meet the definition of a business combination and thus the closing costs, which
historically have been expensed, were capitalized as part of the basis of the real estate assets acquired. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, we recognized $0.5 million of expenses related to costs associated with acquiring
industrial properties from third parties.
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2017 2016 $ Change % Change
(In thousands)

DEPRECIATION AND OTHER AMORTIZATION
Same Store Properties $97,516 $98,909 $ (1,393 ) (1.4 )%
Acquired Properties 4,874 1,358 3,516 258.9  %
Sold Properties 4,305 9,352 (5,047 ) (54.0 )%
(Re) Developments 7,223 5,404 1,819 33.7  %
Corporate Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment and Other 2,446 2,259 187 8.3  %
Total Depreciation and Other Amortization $116,364 $117,282 $ (918 ) (0.8 )%
Depreciation and other amortization from same store properties decreased by $1.4 million due to accelerated
depreciation and amortization taken during the year ended December 31, 2016 attributable to certain tenants who
terminated their leases early. Depreciation and other amortization from acquired properties increased $3.5 million due
to properties acquired subsequent to December 31, 2015. Depreciation and other amortization from sold properties
decreased $5.0 million due to properties sold subsequent to December 31, 2015. Depreciation and other amortization
from (re)developments increased $1.8 million primarily due to an increase in depreciation and amortization related to
completed developments offset by accelerated depreciation on one property in Rancho Dominguez, CA which was
razed during the year ended December 31, 2016. Depreciation from corporate furniture, fixtures and equipment and
other increased $0.2 million due to higher depreciation related to incurred leasing costs at three properties acquired in
the year ended December 31, 2015 that were placed in service during the year ended December 31, 2016.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized $131.3 million of gain on sale of real estate related to the sale
of 60 industrial properties comprising approximately 4.6 million square feet of GLA and one land parcel. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, we recognized $68.2 million of gain on sale of real estate related to the sale of 63
industrial properties comprising approximately 3.9 million square feet of GLA and several land parcels.
Interest expense decreased $2.2 million, or 3.8%, primarily due to a decrease in the weighted average interest rate for
the year ended December 31, 2017 (4.42%) as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 (4.50%), a decrease in
the weighted average debt balance outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2017 ($1,392.2 million) as compared
to the year ended December 31, 2016 ($1,400.5 million) and an increase in capitalized interest of $0.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 due to an increase in development
activities.
Amortization of debt issuance costs remained relatively unchanged.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded $1.9 million of settlement gain on derivative instruments. In
September 2017, we entered into the 2017 Treasury Locks in order to fix the interest rate on an anticipated unsecured
debt offering. The 2017 Treasury Locks were settled during the fourth quarter of 2017.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized a loss from retirement of debt of $1.8 million due to
prepayment penalties related to the early payoff of certain mortgage loans and the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs on these mortgage loans as well as the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs related to an exiting
lender on our revolving line of credit and one of our unsecured term loans.
The income tax provision remained relatively unchanged.
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Critical Accounting Policies
We believe the following critical accounting policies relate to the more significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further detail on our critical accounting policies, which are as follows:

•

Acquisitions of Real Estate Assets:  We allocate the purchase price of acquired real estate, including real estate
acquired as a portfolio, to the fair value of tangible assets (land, building, and improvements) by valuing the real
estate as if it were vacant. The determination of fair value includes estimates such as discount rates, terminal
capitalization rates and market rent assumptions. Above-market and below-market lease and below market ground
lease obligation values are recorded based on the present value (using a discount rate which reflects the risks
associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to each
in-place lease and (ii) our estimate of fair market lease rents for each corresponding in-place lease. The purchase price
is further allocated to leasing commissions, in-place lease and tenant relationship values based on our evaluation of
the specific characteristics of each tenant's lease and our overall relationship with the respective tenant. The value
allocated to tenant relationships is amortized to depreciation and amortization expense over the expected term of the
relationship, which includes an estimate of the probability of lease renewal and its estimated term.

•

Impairment of Real Estate Assets: We review our real estate assets for possible impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The judgments regarding the
existence of indicators of impairment are based on the operating performance, market conditions, as well as our
ability to hold and our intent with regard to each property.  The judgments regarding whether the carrying amounts of
these assets may not be recoverable are based on estimates of future undiscounted cash flows from properties which
include estimates of future operating performance and market conditions. If any real estate investment is considered
impaired, a loss is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the property to its estimated fair value.  
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2018, our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash were approximately $43.1 million and $7.3
million, respectively. Restricted cash is comprised of gross proceeds from the sales of certain industrial properties.
These sale proceeds will be disbursed as we exchange industrial properties under Section 1031 of the Code. We also
had $720.6 million available for additional borrowings under our Unsecured Credit Facility as of December 31, 2018.
We have considered our short-term (through December 31, 2019) liquidity needs and the adequacy of our estimated
cash flow from operations and other expected liquidity sources to meet these needs. We have $107.9 million in
mortgage loans payable outstanding at December 31, 2018 that we anticipate prepaying prior to December 31, 2019.
Historically, we have utilized various sources of capital to satisfy similar payment obligations, including borrowings
under our Unsecured Credit Facility and issuances of debt and equity securities, and we expect to satisfy these
payment obligations on or prior to the maturity dates using one or more of these sources of capital. With the exception
of these payment obligations, we believe that our principal short-term liquidity needs are to fund normal recurring
expenses, property acquisitions, developments, renovations, expansions and other nonrecurring capital improvements,
debt service requirements, the minimum distributions required to maintain the Company's REIT qualification under
the Code and distributions approved by the Company's Board of Directors. We anticipate that these needs will be met
with cash flows provided by operating activities as well as the disposition of select assets. These needs may also be
met by the issuance of additional equity or debt securities or long-term unsecured indebtedness, subject to market
conditions and contractual restrictions or borrowings under our Unsecured Credit Facility.
We expect to meet long-term (after December 31, 2019) liquidity requirements such as property acquisitions,
developments, scheduled debt maturities, major renovations, expansions and other nonrecurring capital improvements
through the disposition of select assets, long-term unsecured and secured indebtedness and the issuance of additional
equity or debt securities, subject to market conditions.
As of February 15, 2019 we had approximately $713.4 million available for additional borrowings under our
Unsecured Credit Facility. Our Unsecured Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants including limitations on
incurrence of debt and debt service coverage. Our access to borrowings may be limited if we fail to meet any of these
covenants. We believe that we were in compliance with our financial covenants as of December 31, 2018, and we
anticipate that we will be able to operate in compliance with our financial covenants in 2019.

Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

48



35

Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

49



As of December 31, 2018, our senior unsecured notes have been assigned credit ratings from Standard & Poor's,
Moody's and Fitch Ratings of BBB/Stable, Baa2/Stable and BBB/Stable, respectively. A securities rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and is subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating
organization. In the event of a downgrade, we believe we would continue to have access to sufficient capital; however,
our cost of borrowing would increase and our ability to access certain financial markets may be limited.
Cash Flow Activity
The following table summarizes our cash flow activity for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017:

Year Ended
December 31,
2018 2017
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $210,495 $192,562
Net cash used in investing activities (223,398 ) (82,495 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,794 (85,046 )
The following table summarizes our cash flow activity for the Operating Partnership for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017:

Year Ended
December 31,
2018 2017
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $210,505 $192,881
Net cash used in investing activities (223,398 ) (82,494 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,784 (85,366 )
Changes in cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to the prior year are described as follows:
Operating Activities: Cash provided by operating activities increased $17.9 million for the Company (increased by
$17.6 million for the Operating Partnership), primarily due to the following:
•Decrease in interest expense of $6.4 million;

•Increase in cash NOI from same store properties, acquired properties, and recently developed properties offset bydecreases in cash NOI due to building disposals for a net total increase of approximately $6.8 million;

•Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities as well as a decrease in other assets due to timingof cash payments and cash receipts.
Investing Activities: Cash used in investing activities increased $140.9 million, primarily due to the following:

•Increase in cash used of $78.5 million related to non-acquisition additions and improvements to real estate primarilydue to an increase in development expenditures in 2018;
•Increase in cash used of $23.4 million related to our net contributions to the Joint Venture in 2018;
•Decrease in cash received of $43.3 million related to the disposition of real estate in 2018;
•Decrease in cash received of $9.2 million related to insurance proceeds on casualty losses;
Offset by:
•Decrease in cash used to acquire real estate in 2018 of $17.5 million.
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Financing Activities: Cash provided by financing activities increased $101.8 million for the Company (increased
$102.2 million for the Operating Partnership), primarily due to the following:
•Increase in cash provided of $100.0 million related to the issuance of unsecured notes in a private placement in 2018;

•Increase in cash provided of $70.7 million related to the proceeds received from the issuance of common stock in anunderwritten public offering in 2018 compared to 2017;
•The payoff of senior unsecured notes during 2017 in the amount of $156.9 million;
Offset by:
•Increase in repayments of mortgage loans payable of $118.8 million;
•Increase in net repayments of our Unsecured Credit Facility of $99.5 million; and

•Increase in dividend and unit distributions of $9.1 million primarily due to the Company raising the dividend rate in2018.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table lists our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2018:

Payments Due by Period
(In thousands)

Total
Less
Than
1 Year

1-3 Years 3-5 Years Over 5 Years

Operating and Ground Leases(A) $36,322 $1,464 $3,039 $2,794 $ 29,025
Real Estate Development Costs(A)(B) 140,300 140,300 — — —
Long Term Debt 1,306,181 79,600 326,159 341,873 558,549
Interest Expense on Long Term Debt(A)(C) 309,800 52,505 84,322 56,460 116,513
Unsecured Credit Facility(D) 3,118 1,103 2,015 — —
Total $1,795,721 $274,972 $415,535 $401,127 $ 704,087
_______________
(A) Not on balance sheet.

(B) Represents estimated remaining costs on the completion of development projects under construction. Estimated
remaining costs include costs for leasing the building and could extend beyond one year.

(C)
Includes interest expense on our unsecured term loans, inclusive of the impact of interest rate swaps which
effectively swap the variable interest rate to a fixed interest rate. Excludes interest expense on our Unsecured
Credit Facility.

(D) Represents fees on our Unsecured Credit Facility which has a contractual maturity in October 2021.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At December 31, 2018, we had letters of credit and performance bonds outstanding amounting to $18.6 million in the
aggregate. The letters of credit and performance bonds are not reflected as liabilities on our balance sheet. We have no
other off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K, other than those disclosed on the
Contractual Obligations and Commitments table above that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future
effect on our financial condition, results of operation or liquidity and capital resources.
Environmental
We paid approximately $0.4 million and $0.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, related to environmental expenditures. We estimate 2019 expenditures of approximately $0.3 million.
We estimate that the aggregate expenditures which need to be expended in 2019 and beyond with regard to currently
identified environmental issues will not exceed approximately $0.9 million.
Inflation
For the last several years, inflation has not had a significant impact on us because of the relatively low inflation rates
in our markets of operation. Most of our leases require the tenants to pay their share of operating expenses, including
common area maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance, thereby reducing our exposure to increases in costs and
operating expenses resulting from inflation. In addition, our leases have a weighted average lease length of 6.8 years
which may enable us to replace existing leases with new leases at higher base rentals if rents of existing leases are
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Market Risk
The following discussion about our risk-management activities includes "forward-looking statements" that involve
risk and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.
Our business subjects us to market risk from interest rates, as described below.
Interest Rate Risk
The following analysis presents the hypothetical gain or loss in earnings, cash flows or fair value of the financial
instruments and derivative instruments which are held by us at December 31, 2018 that are sensitive to changes in
interest rates. While this analysis may have some use as a benchmark, it should not be viewed as a forecast.
In the normal course of business, we also face risks that are either non-financial or non-quantifiable. Such risks
principally include credit risk and legal risk and are not represented in the following analysis.
At December 31, 2018, 100.0% of our total debt was fixed rate debt. This includes $460.0 million of variable-rate
debt that has been effectively swapped to a fixed rate through the use of derivative instruments. At December 31,
2017, $1,160.3 million or 88.9% of our total debt, excluding unamortized debt issuance costs, was fixed rate debt.
This includes $460.0 million of variable-rate debt that has been effectively swapped to a fixed rate through the use of
derivative instruments. As of the same date, $144.5 million or 11.1% of our total debt, excluding unamortized debt
issuance costs, was variable rate debt.
For fixed rate debt, changes in interest rates generally affect the fair value of the debt, but not our earnings or cash
flows. Conversely, for variable rate debt, changes in the base interest rate used to calculate the all-in interest rate
generally do not impact the fair value of the debt, but would affect our future earnings and cash flows. The interest
rate risk and changes in fair market value of fixed rate debt generally do not have a significant impact on us until we
are required to refinance such debt. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the
maturity dates of our various fixed rate debt.
Our variable rate debt is subject to risk based upon prevailing market interest rates. If the LIBOR rates relevant to our
variable rate debt were to have increased 10%, we estimate that our interest expense during the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017 would have increased by approximately $0.07 million and $0.26 million, respectively, based on
our average outstanding floating-rate debt during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. Additionally, if
weighted average interest rates on our fixed rate debt were to have increased by 10% due to refinancing, interest
expense would have increased by approximately $5.6 million and $5.8 million during the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the estimated fair value of our debt was approximately $1,312.4 million and
$1,341.5 million, respectively, based on our estimate of the then-current market interest rates.
The use of derivative financial instruments allows us to manage risks of increases in interest rates with respect to the
effect these fluctuations would have on our earnings and cash flows. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had
derivative instruments with a notional aggregate amount outstanding of $460.0 million which mitigate our exposure to
our unsecured term loans' variable interest rates, which are based upon LIBOR ("Term Loan Swaps"). Additionally,
during December 2018 in anticipation of issuing long term debt in the future, we entered into two treasury locks with
an aggregate notional value of $100.0 million to manage our exposure to changes in the ten year U.S. Treasury rate
(the "2018 Treasury Locks"). The 2018 Treasury Locks fix the ten year U.S. Treasury rate at a weighted average of
2.93% and cash settle on or before April 30, 2019. We designated both the Term Loan Swaps and the 2018 Treasury
Locks as cash flow hedges. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we settled certain derivative instruments,
which were entered into in September 2017, to maintain our flexibility to pursue an offering of unsecured debt ("2017
Treasury Locks"). We did not designate the 2017 Treasury Locks as cash flow hedges. We received a settlement
payment of $1.9 million from our derivative counterparties and recognized such payment as settlement gain on
derivative instruments. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion of these
derivative instruments. Currently, we do not enter into financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes.
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Supplemental Earnings Measure
Investors in and industry analysts following the real estate industry utilize funds from operations ("FFO") and net
operating income ("NOI") as supplemental operating performance measures of an equity REIT. Historical cost
accounting for real estate assets in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America ("GAAP") implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time through
depreciation. Since real estate values instead have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry
analysts and investors prefer to supplement operating results that use historical cost accounting with measures such as
FFO and NOI, among others. We provide information related to FFO and same store NOI ("SS NOI") both because
such industry analysts are interested in such information, and because our management believes FFO and SS NOI are
important performance measures. FFO and SS NOI are factors used by management in measuring our performance,
including for purposes of determining the compensation of our executive officers under our 2018 incentive
compensation plan.
Neither FFO nor SS NOI should be considered as a substitute for net income, or any other measures derived in
accordance with GAAP. Neither FFO nor SS NOI represents cash generated from operating activities in accordance
with GAAP and neither should be considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of
our liquidity, nor is either indicative of funds available for our cash needs, including our ability to make cash
distributions.
Funds From Operations
The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT") has recognized and defined for the real estate
industry a supplemental measure of REIT operating performance, FFO, that excludes historical cost depreciation,
among other items, from net income determined in accordance with GAAP. FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure.
FFO is calculated by us in accordance with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT and
therefore may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.
Management believes that the use of FFO available to common stockholders and participating securities, combined
with net income (which remains the primary measure of performance), improves the understanding of operating
results of REITs among the investing public and makes comparisons of REIT operating results more meaningful.
Management believes that, by excluding gains or losses related to sales of previously depreciated real estate assets,
real estate asset depreciation and amortization and impairment of depreciable real estate, investors and analysts are
able to identify the operating results of the long-term assets that form the core of a REIT's activity and use these
operating results for assistance in comparing these operating results between periods or to those of different
companies.
The following table shows a reconciliation of net income available to common stockholders and participating
securities to the calculation of FFO available to common stockholders and participating securities for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014.

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s
Common Stockholders and Participating Securities $163,239 $201,456 $121,232 $73,802 $46,629

Adjustments:
Depreciation and Other Amortization of Real Estate 115,659 115,617 116,506 113,126 111,371
Depreciation and Other Amortization of Real Estate
Included in Discontinued Operations — — — — 2,388

Equity in Depreciation and Other Amortization of Joint
Ventures — — — 17 117

Impairment of Depreciable Real Estate 2,285 — — 626 —
Gain on Sale of Depreciable Real Estate (80,909 ) (131,058 ) (68,202 ) (44,022 ) (25,988 )
Gain on Sale of Depreciable Real Estate from Joint Ventures— — — (63 ) (3,346 )
Noncontrolling Interest Share of Adjustments (883 ) 481 (1,725 ) (2,645 ) (3,281 )
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Funds from Operations Available to First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc.'s Common Stockholders and Participating
Securities

$199,391 $186,496 $167,811 $140,841 $127,890
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In December 2018, NAREIT issued a white paper restating the definition of FFO. The purpose of the restatement was
not to change the fundamental definition of FFO, but to clarify existing NAREIT guidance. The restated definition of
FFO is as follows: Net Income (calculated in accordance with GAAP), excluding: (i) Depreciation and amortization
related to real estate, (ii) Gains and losses from the sale of certain real estate assets, (iii) Gain and losses from change
in control, and (iv) Impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and investments in entities when the
impairment is directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity. This restated
definition provides an option to include or exclude gains and losses as well as impairment of non-depreciable real
estate if the sales are deemed incidental. We currently include gains and losses on sales and impairment of our
non-depreciable real estate in our calculation of NAREIT FFO. Commencing on January 1, 2019 we will adopt the
restated definition of NAREIT FFO on a prospective basis and will exclude gains and losses on sales and impairment
of our non-depreciable real estate that we deem incidental.
Same Store Net Operating Income
SS NOI is a non-GAAP financial measure that provides a measure of rental operations and, as calculated by us, that
does not factor in depreciation and amortization, general and administrative expense, acquisition costs, interest
expense, impairment charges, equity in income and loss from joint venture, income tax benefit and expense, gains and
losses on retirement of debt, gains and losses on the sale of real estate and settlement gain on derivative instruments.
We define SS NOI as revenues minus property expenses such as real estate taxes, repairs and maintenance, property
management, utilities, insurance and other expenses, minus the NOI of properties that are not same store properties
and minus the impact of straight-line rent, the amortization of lease inducements, the amortization of above/below
market rent and lease termination fees. As so defined, SS NOI may not be comparable to same store net operating
income or similar measures reported by other REITs that define same store properties or NOI differently. The major
factors influencing SS NOI are occupancy levels, rental rate increases or decreases and tenant recoveries increases or
decreases. Our success depends largely upon our ability to lease space and to recover the operating costs associated
with those leases from our tenants.
The following table shows a reconciliation of the same store revenues and property expenses disclosed in the results
of operations (and reconciled to revenues and expenses reflected on the statements of operations) to SS NOI for the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Year Ended
December 31,
2018 2017
(In thousands)

Same Store Revenues $365,873 $349,196
Same Store Property Expenses 97,053 91,417
Same Store Net Operating Income Before Same Store Adjustments $268,820 $257,779
Same Store Adjustments:
Straight-line Rent 1,020 (2,971 )
Above / Below Market Rent Amortization (817 ) (988 )
Lease Termination Fees (1,213 ) (773 )
Same Store Net Operating Income $267,810 $253,047
Subsequent Events
On January 25, 2019 we acquired one land parcel for a purchase price of $1.8 million, excluding costs incurred in
conjunction with the acquisition.
On February 4, 2019 we acquired one industrial property for a purchase price of $12.3 million, excluding costs
incurred in conjunction with the acquisition.
Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Response to this item is included in Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" above.
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Item 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule included in Item 15.
Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A.Controls and Procedures
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in its periodic reports pursuant to the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated
to management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure.
The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including
the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of its disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the
period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, the Company's principal executive officer and principal
financial officer concluded that its disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this report.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The
Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
Management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company's internal control over financial reporting
was effective.
The effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which appears herein within Item 15. See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth
quarter of 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control
over financial reporting.

41

Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

58



First Industrial, L.P.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Operating Partnership maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in its periodic reports pursuant to the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, on
behalf of the Company in its capacity as the general partner of the Operating Partnership, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure.
The Operating Partnership carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, on behalf of the Company in its
capacity as the general partner of the Operating Partnership, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Operating Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, the Company's principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, on behalf of the Company in its capacity as the general partner of the Operating Partnership,
concluded that the Operating Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the
period covered by this report.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The
Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2018. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
Management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial
reporting was effective.
The effectiveness of the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report which appears herein within Item 15. See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in the Operating Partnership's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2018 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Operating
Partnership's internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.Other Information
None.
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PART III

Item 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance, Executive Compensation,
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director
Independence and Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 10, Item 11, Item 12, Item 13 and Item 14 is hereby incorporated or furnished,
solely to the extent required by such item, from the Company's definitive proxy statement, which is expected to be
filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the Company's fiscal year. Information from the Company's
definitive proxy statement shall not be deemed to be "filed" or "soliciting material," or subject to liability for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to the maximum extent permitted under the Exchange Act.
PART IV
Item 15.Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedule and Exhibits
(1 & 2) See Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule.
(3) Exhibits: The Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index on page 45 to 47 of
this report, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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EXHIBIT INDEX 
Exhibits Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1996, File No. 1-13102)

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, dated May 7, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company, filed May 7, 2015, File No. 1-13102)

3.3
Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, dated June 20, 1994 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1996, File
No. 1-13102)

3.4
Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, dated May 31, 1996 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1996, File
No. 1-13102)

3.5
Articles Supplementary relating to the Company's Junior Participating Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 of Form S-3 of the Company and First Industrial, L.P. dated
September 24, 1997, Registration No. 333-29879)

3.6 Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, dated May 12, 2011 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company filed June 2, 2011, File No. 1-13102)

3.7 Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation, dated May 9, 2013 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company filed May 10, 2013, File No. 1-13102)

3.8 Articles of Amendment to the Company's Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
of the Form 8-K of the Company filed May 12, 2017, File No. 001-13102)

3.9* Thirteenth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of First Industrial, L.P.

4.1

Indenture, dated as of May 13, 1997, between First Industrial, L.P. and First Trust National Association, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 1997, as amended by Form 10-Q/A No. 1 of the Company filed May 30, 1997, File No.
1-13102)

4.2

Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of May 13, 1997, between First Industrial, L.P. and First Trust
National Association as Trustee relating to $100 million of 7.15% Notes due 2027 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.2 of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 1997, as amended by
Form 10-Q/A No. 1 of the Company filed May 30, 1997, File No. 1-13102)

4.3

Supplemental Indenture No. 3 dated October 28, 1997 between First Industrial, L.P. and First Trust National
Association providing for the issuance of Medium-Term Notes due Nine Months or more from Date of Issue
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 8-K of First Industrial, L.P., dated November 3, 1997, as
filed November 3, 1997, File No. 333-21873)

4.4 7.50% Medium-Term Note due 2017 in principal amount of $100 million issued by First Industrial, L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.19 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
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December 31, 1997, File No. 1-13102)

4.5
Trust Agreement, dated as of May 16, 1997, between First Industrial, L.P. and First Bank National
Association, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Form 10-Q of First Industrial, L.P.
for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 1997, File No. 333-21873)

4.6 7.60% Notes due 2028 in principal amount of $200 million issued by First Industrial, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Form 8-K of First Industrial, L.P. dated July 15, 1998, File No. 333-21873)

4.7
Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of July 14, 1998, between First Industrial, L.P. and U.S. Bank Trust
National Association, relating to First Industrial, L.P.'s 7.60% Notes due July 15, 2028 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-K of First Industrial, L.P. dated July 15, 1998, File No. 333-21873)

4.8
Supplemental Indenture No. 11, dated as of May 7, 2007, relating to 5.95% Senior Notes due 2017, by and
between the First Industrial, L.P. and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company, filed May 7, 2007, File No. 1-13102)

10.1
Contribution Agreement, dated March 19, 1996, among FR Acquisitions, Inc. and the parties listed on the
signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company, dated
April 3, 1996, File No. 1-13102)

10.2
Contribution Agreement, dated January 31, 1997, among FR Acquisitions, Inc. and the parties listed on the
signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 of the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 1-13102)

10.3† Form of 2013 Long-Term Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of
the Company filed June 25, 2013, File No. 1-13102)

10.4*† 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restated) as of December 31, 2018
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Exhibits Description

10.5†

Employment Agreement, dated August 2, 2016, by and among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc. and Peter E. Baccile (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company
and the Operating Partnership, filed August 3, 2016, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating
Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.6

Unsecured Term Loan Agreement dated as of January 29, 2014 among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial
Realty Trust, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and the other lenders thereunder (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company filed January 29, 2014, File No. 1-13102)

10.7

First Amendment, dated as of April 20, 2015, to Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of January 29,
2014, among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and the other
lenders thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2015, File No. 1-13102)

10.8

Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2015, among First Industrial, L.P., First
Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, PNC Bank, National Association,
Regions Bank, U.S. Bank, National Association and the other lenders thereunder (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company filed September 14, 2015, File No. 1-13102)

10.9

Second Amendment, dated as of January 26, 2017, to Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of January
29, 2014, by and among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., certain lenders signatory
thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the Operating Partnership, filed February 23, 2017,
Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.10

First Amendment, dated as of January 26, 2017, to Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September
11, 2015, by and among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., certain lenders signatory
thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the Operating Partnership, filed February 23, 2017,
Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.11

Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2017, by and among First Industrial, L.P., First
Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. and the purchasers of the notes party thereto (including the forms of each of the
4.30% Series A Guaranteed Senior Notes due April 20, 2027 and 4.40% Series B Guaranteed Senior Notes
due April 20, 2029) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the
Operating Partnership, filed February 23, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's
File No. 333-21873)

10.12

Distribution Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2017, among First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., First
Industrial, L.P., and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K
of the Company and the Operating Partnership, filed March 16, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and
Operating Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.13 Third Amended and Restated Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 31, 2017, among
First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and the other lenders
thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the Operating
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Partnership, filed November 2, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's File No.
333-21873)

10.14

Third Amendment, dated as of October 31, 2017, to Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of January
29, 2014, among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and the
other lenders thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the
Operating Partnership, filed November 2, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's
File No. 333-21873)

10.15

Second Amendment, dated as of October 31, 2017, to Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of
September 11, 2015, among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., certain lenders signatory
thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the Operating Partnership, filed November 2, 2017,
Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.16

Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2017, by and among First Industrial, L.P., First
Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. and the purchasers of the notes party thereto (including the forms of each of the
3.86% Series C Guaranteed Senior Notes due February 15, 2028 and 3.96% Series D Guaranteed Senior
Notes due February 15, 2030) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of the Company
and the Operating Partnership, filed December 15, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating
Partnership's File No. 333-21873)

10.17

First Amendment, dated as of December 12, 2017, to Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February
21, 2017, among First Industrial, L.P., First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. and the purchasers of the notes party
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 8-K of the Company and the Operating
Partnership, filed December 15, 2017, Company's File No. 1-13102 and Operating Partnership's File No.
333-21873)

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrants

23.1* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.

23.2* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to First Industrial, L.P.

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer of First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
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Exhibits Description

31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer of First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

31.3*
Certification of Principal Executive Officer of First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., in its capacity as the sole
general partner of First Industrial, L.P., pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

31.4*
Certification of Principal Financial Officer of First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc., in its capacity as the sole
general partner of First Industrial, L.P., pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

32.1**
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32.2**
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of First Industrial Realty
Trust, Inc., in its capacity as the sole general partner of First Industrial, L.P., pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.1*

The following financial statements from First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s and First Industrial L.P.'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance
Sheets (audited), (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations (audited), (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (audited), (iv) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity /
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Partners' Capital (audited), (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows (audited) and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (audited)

_______________
*Filed herewith.
**Furnished herewith.
†Indicates a compensatory plan or arrangement contemplated by Item 15 a (3) of Form 10-K.
Item 16.Form 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.:
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of comprehensive income, of changes in stockholders' equity and of cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2018, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
accompanying index (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.
Basis for Opinions
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under item 9A.
Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1993.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Partners of
First Industrial, L.P.:
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of First Industrial, L.P. and its subsidiaries (the
"Operating Partnership") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related consolidated statements of operations, of
comprehensive income, of changes in partners' capital and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index
(collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Operating Partnership as of December 31, 2018 and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Operating Partnership maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.
Basis for Opinions
The Operating Partnership's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Operating Partnership's consolidated financial statements and
on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2019

We have served as the Operating Partnership's auditor since 1996.  
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

(In thousands, except share and per 
share data)

ASSETS
Assets:
Investment in Real Estate:
Land $ 909,318 $ 864,813
Buildings and Improvements 2,704,850 2,521,457
Construction in Progress 59,476 109,475
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (811,784 ) (789,919 )
Net Investment in Real Estate 2,861,860 2,705,826
Cash and Cash Equivalents 43,102 21,146
Restricted Cash 7,271 25,336
Tenant Accounts Receivable, Net 5,185 4,873
Investment in Joint Venture 23,326 —
Deferred Rent Receivable, Net 71,079 70,254
Deferred Leasing Intangibles, Net 29,678 30,481
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets, Net 101,190 83,146
Total Assets $ 3,142,691 $ 2,941,062
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Indebtedness:
Mortgage Loans Payable, Net $ 296,470 $ 450,056
Senior Unsecured Notes, Net 544,504 246,673
Unsecured Term Loans, Net 456,809 455,768
Unsecured Credit Facility — 144,500
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 78,665 86,532
Deferred Leasing Intangibles, Net 9,560 10,355
Rents Received in Advance and Security Deposits 47,927 44,285
Dividends and Distributions Payable 28,845 27,016
Total Liabilities 1,462,780 1,465,185
Commitments and Contingencies — —
Equity:
First Industrial Realty Trust Inc.'s Stockholders' Equity:
Common Stock ($0.01 par value, 225,000,000 shares authorized and 126,307,431
and 119,883,180 shares issued and outstanding) 1,263 1,199

Additional Paid-in-Capital 2,131,556 1,967,110
Distributions in Excess of Accumulated Earnings (490,807 ) (541,847 )
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 3,502 1,338
Total First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Stockholders' Equity 1,645,514 1,427,800
Noncontrolling Interest 34,397 48,077
Total Equity 1,679,911 1,475,877
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 3,142,691 $ 2,941,062
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year
Ended
December 31,
2018

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Year Ended
December 31,
2016

(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenues:
Rental Income $306,406 $ 303,874 $ 289,858
Tenant Recoveries and Other Income 97,548 92,528 88,162
Total Revenues 403,954 396,402 378,020
Expenses:
Property Expenses 116,854 113,494 112,324
General and Administrative 27,749 28,079 26,703
Depreciation and Other Amortization 116,459 116,364 117,282
Impairment of Real Estate 2,756 — —
Acquisition Costs — — 491
Total Expenses 263,818 257,937 256,800
Other Income (Expense):
Gain on Sale of Real Estate 81,600 131,269 68,202
Interest Expense (50,775 ) (57,199 ) (59,430 )
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs (3,404 ) (3,162 ) (3,219 )
Settlement Gain on Derivative Instruments — 1,896 —
Loss from Retirement of Debt (39 ) (1,775 ) —
Total Other Income (Expense) 27,382 71,029 5,553
Income from Operations Before Equity in Loss of Joint Venture and Income
Tax Provision 167,518 209,494 126,773

Equity in Loss of Joint Venture (276 ) — —
Income Tax Benefit (Provision) 92 (1,193 ) (1,089 )
Net Income 167,334 208,301 125,684
Less: Net Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest (4,095 ) (6,845 ) (4,452 )
Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders and Participating Securities 163,239 201,456 121,232

Basic Earnings Per Share:
Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders $1.31 $ 1.70 $ 1.05

Diluted Earnings Per Share:
Net Income Available to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc.'s Common
Stockholders $1.31 $ 1.69 $ 1.05

Dividends/Distributions Per Share $0.87 $ 0.84 $ 0.76
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Basic 123,804 118,272 115,030
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted 124,191 118,787 115,370
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

53

Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

73



FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year
Ended
December 31,
2018

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Year Ended
December 31,
2016

(In thousands)
Net Income $167,334 $ 208,301 $ 125,684
Mark-to-Market Gain on Derivative Instruments 2,096 5,981 4,849
Amortization of Derivative Instruments 96 205 390
Comprehensive Income 169,526 214,487 130,923
Comprehensive Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest (4,149 ) (6,642 ) (4,638 )
Comprehensive Income Attributable to First Industrial Realty Trust, Inc. $165,377 $ 207,845 $ 126,285
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in-
Capital

Distributions
in Excess of
Accumulated
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss)
Income

Noncontrolling
Interest Total

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $1,111 $1,756,415 $ (674,759 ) $ (9,667 ) $ 42,035 $1,115,135
Net Income — — 121,232 — 4,452 125,684
Other Comprehensive Income — — — 5,053 186 5,239
Issuance of Common Stock, Net of
Issuance Costs 56 124,528 — — — 124,584

Stock Based Compensation Activity 2 5,516 (217 ) — — 5,301
Common Stock Dividends and Unit
Distributions — — (88,115 ) — (3,203 ) (91,318 )

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to
Common Stock 3 2,859 — — (2,862 ) —

Reallocation—Additional Paid-in-Capital— (2,547 ) — — 2,547 —
Reallocation—Other Comprehensive
Income — — — (29 ) 29 —

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $1,172 $1,886,771 $ (641,859 ) $ (4,643 ) $ 43,184 $1,284,625
Net Income — — 201,456 — 6,845 208,301
Other Comprehensive Income — — — 6,389 (203 ) 6,186
Issuance of Common Stock, Net of
Issuance Costs 25 74,636 — — — 74,661

Stock Based Compensation Activity 2 6,932 (724 ) — — 6,210
Common Stock Dividends and Unit
Distributions — — (100,720 ) — (3,386 ) (104,106 )

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to
Common Stock — 364 — — (364 ) —

Reallocation—Additional Paid-in-Capital— (1,593 ) — — 1,593 —
Reallocation—Other Comprehensive
Income — — — (408 ) 408 —

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $1,199 $1,967,110 $ (541,847 ) $ 1,338 $ 48,077 $1,475,877
Net Income — — 163,239 — 4,095 167,334
Other Comprehensive Income — — — 2,138 54 2,192
Issuance of Common Stock, Net of
Issuance Costs 48 145,360 — — — 145,408

Stock Based Compensation Activity 3 4,791 (3,282 ) — — 1,512
Common Stock Dividends and Unit
Distributions — — (108,917 ) — (2,561 ) (111,478 )

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to
Common Stock 13 16,592 — — (16,605 ) —

Retirement of Limited Partner Units — — — — (934 ) (934 )
Reallocation—Additional Paid-in-Capital— (2,297 ) — — 2,297 —
Reallocation—Other Comprehensive
Income — — — 26 (26 ) —
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Balance as of December 31, 2018 $1,263 $2,131,556 $ (490,807 ) $ 3,502 $ 34,397 $1,679,911
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year
Ended
December 31,
2018

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Year Ended
December 31,
2016

(In thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income $167,334 $ 208,301 $ 125,684
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating
Activities:
Depreciation 94,626 94,078 95,514
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs 3,404 3,162 3,219
Other Amortization, including Stock Based Compensation 26,976 29,252 28,403
Impairment of Real Estate 2,756 — —
Provision for Bad Debt 350 177 563
Equity in Loss of Joint Venture 276 — —
Gain on Sale of Real Estate (81,600 ) (131,269 ) (68,202 )
Loss from Retirement of Debt 39 1,775 —
Gain on Casualty and Involuntary Conversion (392 ) (1,321 ) —
(Increase) Decrease in Tenant Accounts Receivable, Prepaid Expenses and
Other Assets, Net (4,199 ) (5,829 ) 965

Increase in Deferred Rent Receivable, Net (2,165 ) (5,299 ) (6,602 )
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses, Other
Liabilities, Rents Received in Advance and Security Deposits 3,090 (465 ) (5,655 )

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 210,495 192,562 173,889
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions of Real Estate (157,787 ) (175,303 ) (107,484 )
Additions to Investment in Real Estate and Non-Acquisition Tenant
Improvements and Lease Costs (224,466 ) (146,003 ) (179,994 )

Net Proceeds from Sales of Investments in Real Estate 184,783 228,102 163,435
Proceeds from Casualty and Involuntary Conversion 906 10,094 —
Contributions to and Investments in Joint Venture (25,190 ) — —
Distributions from Joint Venture 1,829 — —
Other Investing Activity (3,473 ) 615 1,648
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (223,398 ) (82,495 ) (122,395 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Debt and Equity Issuance Costs (2,975 ) (6,864 ) (375 )
Proceeds from the Issuance of Common Stock, Net of Underwriter's
Discount 145,584 74,880 124,936

Repurchase and Retirement of Restricted Stock (6,020 ) (2,401 ) (5,242 )
Common Stock Dividends and Unit Distributions Paid (109,649 ) (100,524 ) (82,696 )
Repayments on Mortgage Loans Payable (165,646 ) (46,832 ) (70,969 )
Prepayments of Penalties Associated with Retirement of Debt — (1,453 ) (554 )
Proceeds from Senior Unsecured Notes 300,000 200,000 —
Repayments of Senior Unsecured Notes — (156,852 ) (159,125 )
Proceeds from Unsecured Credit Facility 237,000 429,000 442,000
Repayments on Unsecured Credit Facility (381,500 ) (474,000 ) (305,000 )
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 16,794 (85,046 ) (57,025 )
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Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 3,891 25,021 (5,531 )
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash, Beginning of Year 46,482 21,461 26,992
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash, End of Year $50,373 $ 46,482 $ 21,461

FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Year
Ended
December 31,
2018

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Year Ended
December 31,
2016

(In thousands)
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS:
Interest Paid, Net of Interest Expense Capitalized in Connection with
Development Activity $47,408 $ 56,844 $ 63,600

Interest Expense Capitalized in Connection with Development Activity $5,869 $ 4,353 $ 3,523
Income Taxes Paid $457 $ 769 $ 1,358
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Common Stock Dividends and Unit Distributions Payable $28,845 $ 27,016 $ 23,434
Exchange of Limited Partnership Units for Common Stock:
Noncontrolling Interest $(16,605 ) $ (364 ) $ (2,862 )
Common Stock 13 — 3
Additional Paid-in-Capital 16,592 364 2,859
Total $— $ — $ —
Assumption of Indebtedness and Other Liabilities in Connection with the
Acquisition of Real Estate $11,878 $ 1,269 $ 5,405

Accounts Payable Related to Construction in Progress and Additions to
Investment in Real Estate $31,545 $ 38,597 $ 32,712

Write-off of Fully Depreciated Assets $(43,654 ) $ (35,560 ) $ (44,080 )
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL, L.P.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

(In thousands, except Unit data)
ASSETS
Assets:
Investment in Real Estate:
Land $ 909,318 $ 864,813
Buildings and Improvements 2,704,850 2,521,457
Construction in Progress 59,476 109,475
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (811,784 ) (789,919 )
Net Investment in Real Estate (including $260,528 and $270,708 related to
consolidated variable interest entities, see Note 5) 2,861,860 2,705,826

Cash and Cash Equivalents 43,102 21,146
Restricted Cash 7,271 25,336
Tenant Accounts Receivable, Net 5,185 4,873
Investment in Joint Venture 23,326 —
Deferred Rent Receivable, Net 71,079 70,254
Deferred Leasing Intangibles, Net 29,678 30,481
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets, Net 111,298 93,264
Total Assets $ 3,152,799 $ 2,951,180
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL
Liabilities:
Indebtedness:
Mortgage Loans Payable, Net (including $20,497 and $61,256 related to consolidated
variable interest entities, see Note 5) $ 296,470 $ 450,056

Senior Unsecured Notes, Net 544,504 246,673
Unsecured Term Loans, Net 456,809 455,768
Unsecured Credit Facility — 144,500
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 78,665 86,532
Deferred Leasing Intangibles, Net 9,560 10,355
Rents Received in Advance and Security Deposits 47,927 44,285
Distributions Payable 28,845 27,016
Total Liabilities 1,462,780 1,465,185
Commitments and Contingencies — —
Partners' Capital:
First Industrial L.P.'s Partners' Capital:
General Partner Units (126,307,431 and 119,883,180 units outstanding) 1,619,342 1,401,583
Limited Partners Units (2,624,167 and 4,008,221 units outstanding) 66,246 82,251
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 3,574 1,382
Total First Industrial L.P.'s Partners' Capital 1,689,162 1,485,216
Noncontrolling Interest 857 779
Total Partners' Capital 1,690,019 1,485,995
Total Liabilities and Partners' Capital $ 3,152,799 $ 2,951,180
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

57

Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

79



Edgar Filing: FIRST INDUSTRIAL REALTY TRUST INC - Form 10-K

80



FIRST INDUSTRIAL L.P.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year
Ended
December
31, 2018

Year
Ended
December
31, 2017

Year
Ended
December
31, 2016

(In thousands, except per Unit
data)

Revenues:
Rental Income $306,406 $303,874 $289,858
Tenant Recoveries and Other Income 97,548 92,528 88,162
Total Revenues 403,954 396,402 378,020
Expenses:
Property Expenses 116,854 113,494 112,324
General and Administrative 27,749 28,079 26,703
Depreciation and Other Amortization 116,459 116,364 117,282
Impairment of Real Estate 2,756 — —
Acquisition Costs — — 491
Total Expenses 263,818 257,937 256,800
Other Income (Expense):
Gain on Sale of Real Estate 81,600 131,269 68,202
Interest Expense (50,775 ) (57,199 ) (59,430 )
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs (3,404 ) (3,162 ) (3,219 )
Settlement Gain on Derivative Instruments — 1,896 —
Loss from Retirement of Debt (39 ) (1,775 ) —
Total Other Income (Expense) 27,382 71,029 5,553
Income from Operations Before Equity in Loss of Joint Venture and Income Tax
Provision 167,518 209,494 126,773

Equity in Loss of Joint Ventures (276 ) — —
Income Tax Benefit (Provision) 92 (1,193 ) (1,089 )
Net Income 167,334 208,301 125,684
Less: Net Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest (88 ) (143 ) (137 )
Net Income Available to Unitholders and Participating Securities $167,246 $208,158 $125,547
Basic Earnings Per Unit:
Net Income Available to Unitholders $1.31 $1.70 $1.05
Diluted Earnings Per Unit:
Net Income Available to Unitholders $1.31 $1.69 $1.05
Distributions Per Unit $0.87 $0.84 $0.76
Weighted Average Units Outstanding - Basic 126,921 122,306 119,274
Weighted Average Units Outstanding - Diluted 127,308 122,821 119,614
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRST INDUSTRIAL L.P.
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